








Chapter 4

Legal framework
Key legislation and regulations



76

D oi  n g  B usi   n ess    i n  A rge   n ti  n a  –  A n  I n v estor     ’ s  G uide  

4.1. Legal framework for FDI

In Argentina, foreign investors and their investments are protected by law, guaranteed by a set of national and 
international norms which make this country a safe destination for Foreign Direct Investment (FDI). 

The Argentine Constitution guarantees foreigners equal treatment–as from its Preamble—and recognizes in Article 
20 that foreigners have the same rights as Argentine nationals.

4.1.1. Foreign Investment Law

The Foreign Investment Law No. 21,382 defines the legal framework regulating foreign investment. This law 
covers the different ways in which foreign investors may invest in Argentina for the purposes of carrying out 
economic activities—manufacturing, mining, agriculture, commerce, finance, services or other activities related 
to the production and exchange of goods and services—or expand or perfect existing ones. No prior approval 
is required. The law states that foreign investors are granted the same rights and are subject to the same 
obligations as defined for domestic investors by the Argentine Constitution and laws. The legislation regulating 
foreign investment establishes certain definitions for this purpose: 

• Foreign capital investment: All capital contributions issued by foreign investors for economic activities undertaken in 
the country and/or used for acquiring shares of an existing domestic company, on behalf of foreign investors.

• Foreign investor: All individuals or legal entities with permanent domicile outside national territory that invest 
foreign capital locally and domestic companies of foreign capital when they invest in local companies.

• Domestic company of foreign capital: Any company with permanent domicile within Argentina where individuals 
or legal entities with permanent domicile outside its borders directly or indirectly own over 49% of the capital 
or directly or indirectly have the number of votes required to control shareholders’ or partners’ meetings.

• Domestic company of domestic capital: All companies with permanent domicile in Argentina where individuals 
or legal entities also with permanent domicile in this country directly or indirectly own no less than 51% of 
the capital and directly or indirectly have the number of votes required to control shareholders’ or partners’ 
meetings.

By law, foreign investors have the following rights: 

• To remit abroad profits earned as a return on their investment as well as repatriate their investment.
• To avail themselves of any of the legal forms of incorporation foreseen by Argentine legislation.
• To make use of domestic credit and loans with the same rights and under the same conditions as domestic 

companies of domestic capital.

The legislation also provides details on the ways in which foreign investment may be exercised: 

• Convertible foreign currency.
• Capital goods, spare parts and accessories.
• Capital or profits in domestic currency belonging to foreign investors as long as they meet the legal requirements 

for transfer abroad.
• Capitalization of foreign loans in foreign convertible currency.
• Intangible assets, according to specific legislation.
• Other forms of contributions contemplated in special or promotional regimes.
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The Foreign Investment Law also contemplates the treatment of provisional contributions and of the relationship 
between controlling and controlled companies. The provisional contributions of foreign capital made for the 
purposes of implementing lease contracts for goods, works or services or others are out of the scope of this law, 
being governed by the terms of the applicable agreements according to the legal requirements therein established. 
Nonetheless, the owners of these contributions may opt to make their investment within the terms of the Foreign 
Investment Law. 

In regard to the relationship between controlled and controlling companies, legal agreements between a domestic 
company of foreign capital and the company directly or indirectly controlling it or another subsidiary of the latter 
are considered to be agreements between independent parties as long as their stipulations and conditions are in 
line with common practices in the market carried out by independent entities. 

4.1.2. Bilateral Investment Treaties (BITs)

Argentina has signed the following bilateral investment promotion and protection treaties with different 
countries. 

Bilateral Investment Promotion and Protection Treaties

Country Date signed
(day/month/year)

National Law
(number/year)

Effective date
(day/month/year)

1. Algeria 04/10/2000 25,538/01 28/01/2002

2. Armenia 16/04/1993 24,395/94 20/12/1994

3. Australia 23/08/1995 24,728/96 11/01/1997

4. Austria 07/08/1992 24,328/94 01/01/1995

5. Benelux 28/06/1990 24,123/92 20/05/1994

6. Bolivia 17/03/1994 24,458/95 01/05/1995

7. Bulgaria 21/09/1993 24,401/94 11/03/1997

8. Canada 05/11/1991 24,125/92 29/04/1993

9. Costa Rica 21/05/1997 25,139/99 01/05/2001

10. Croatia 02/12/1994 24,563/95 01/06/1996

11. Cuba 30/11/1995 24,770/97 01/06/1997

12. Chile 02/08/1991 24,342/94 01/01/1995

13. China 05/11/1992 24,325/94 01/08/1994

14. Czech Republic 27/09/1996 24,983/98 23/07/1998

15. Denmark 06/11/1992 24,397/94 02/02/1995

16. Ecuador 18/12/1994 24,459/95 01/12/1995

17. Egypt 11/05/1992 24,248/93 03/12/1993

18. El Salvador 09/05/1996 25,023/98 08/01/1999
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19. Finland 05/11/1993 24,614/95 03/05/1996

20. France 03/07/1991 24,100/92 03/03/1993

21. Germany 09/04/1991 24,098/92 08/11/1993

22. Guatemala 21/04/1998 25,350/00 07/12/2002

23. Hungary 03/02/1993 24,335/94 01/10/1997

24. India 20/08/1999 25,540/01 12/08/2002

25. Indonesia 07/11/1995 24,814/97 14/02/2001

26. Israel 23/07/1995 24,771/97 10/04/1997

27. Italy 22/05/1990 24,122/92 14/10/1993

28. Jamaica 08/02/1994 24,549/95 01/12/1995

29. Lithuania 14/03/1996 24,984/98 01/09/1998

30. Malaysia 06/09/1994 24,613/96 20/03/1996

31. Mexico 13/11/1996 24,972/98 22/07/1998

32. Morocco 13/06/1996 24,890/97 18/02/2000

33. Nicaragua 10/08/1998 25,351/00 01/02/2001

34. Panama 10/05/1996 24,971/98 22/06/1998

35. Peru 10/11/1994 24,680/96 24/10/1996

36. Philippines 20/09/1999 25,481/01 01/01/2002

37. Poland 31/07/1991 24,101/92 01/09/1992

38. Portugal 06/10/1994 24,593/95 03/05/1996

39. Romania 29/07/1993 24,456/95 01/05/1995

40. Russia 25/06/1998 25,353/00 20/11/2000

41. Senegal 06/04/1993 24,396/94 1/02/2010

42. Spain 03/10/1991 24,118/92 28/09/1992

43. South Africa 23/07/1998 25,351/00 01/01/2001

44. South Korea 17/05/1994 24,682/96 24/09/1996

45. Sweden 22/11/1991 24,117/92 28/09/1992

46. Switzerland 12/04/1991 24,099/92 06/11/1992

47. Thailand 18/02/2000 25,532/01 07/03/2002

48. The Netherlands 20/10/1992 24,352/94 01/10/1994

Country Date signed
(day/month/year)

National Law
(number/year)

Effective date
(day/month/year)
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49. Tunisia 17/06/1992 24,394/94 19/01/1995

50. Turkey 08/05/1992 24,340/94 01/05/1995

51. Ukraine 09/08/1995 24,681/96 06/05/1997

52. United Kingdom 11/12/1990 24,184/92 19/02/1993

53. United States 14/11/1991 24,124/92 20/10/1994

54. Venezuela 16/11/1993 24,457/95 01/07/1995

55. Vietnam 03/06/1996 24,778/97 01/06/1997

In addition, Argentina has been an observer of the Investment Committee of the OECD since 1996 and is currently 
a member of the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA), whose objective is to mitigate the risks of 
investment and provide advice and information on investment opportunities in emerging economies.

4.1.3. Bringing in and remitting funds

In Argentina, FDI is exempt from the 365-day statutory interest-free deposit, commonly known as “encaje”. This 
deposit shall be made in US dollars with 30% of the equivalent in that currency to the total sum when there are 
foreign exchange inflows into the foreign exchange market.

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Central Bank of Argentina (BCRA, for its acronym in 
Spanish) defines FDI as the category of international investment that reflects the objective of a resident entity in 
one economy obtaining a lasting interest in an enterprise resident in another economy. In practical terms, a direct 
investment enterprise is one in which a direct investor, who is resident in another economy, owns 10% or more 
of the ordinary shares or voting power. Once this threshold has been reached, any further contributions made by 
the non-resident investor shall be considered as FDI, independent of the amount or percentage.

The only incoming funds of a foreign direct investor which must comply with the 30% deposit are those pertaining 
to external financial liabilities, except for those agreed on and settled at an average life of no less than two years 
and used to invest in nonfinancial assets.

According to Decree 616/2005, these foreign exchange regulations aim to maintain economic stability by discouraging 
speculative capital flows without affecting the inflow of foreign currency for productive investments.

Other inflows which are also exempt of the mandatory deposit, related to direct investment are: 
•	Income from nonresident investment applied to purchasing real estate.
•	Foreign funds transferred by nonresidents to purchase real property under construction in installments in 

Argentina.
•	Inflows in the local exchange market from external asset repatriations by residents.
•	Foreign currency inflows into the local exchange market issued by a trust fund for energy infrastructure 

development.

There are no restrictions on the remittance abroad of interests, dividends, earnings, royalties or any other form 
of commercial payment as long as it is duly supported by the corresponding documentation. 

Country Date signed
(day/month/year)

National Law
(number/year)

Effective date
(day/month/year)



80

D oi  n g  B usi   n ess    i n  A rge   n ti  n a  –  A n  I n v estor     ’ s  G uide  

Requirements for exceptions to the statutory deposit

In order to apply for an exemption from the deposit as regards direct investment, the investor must present the 
following documentation, depending on the ultimate destination of the incoming funds. 

a) Capital contributions for the creation of new companies or to increase the capital stock in an existing company 
(BCRA Code 447).

•	Proof of having begun the procedures to register the capital contributions at the Public Registry of Commerce 
corresponding to the relevant jurisdiction. 

•	Proof of the definitive capital contribution (authorization of the capital contribution by the Public Registry of 
Commerce) within 250 days of starting procedures. There is an option to extend this period for an additional 
180 days when it can be shown that the delay in capitalization is due to causes beyond the control of the 
investor. 

When the definitive capitalization of a contribution is not finalized, the investor has 10 working days in which to 
make the interest-free deposit of 30%.

b) Sales of shares of local companies to direct investors (BCRA Code 453) as-and-when this purchase meets the 
definition of direct investment:

•	Presentation of the corresponding purchase contract or takeover bid, as appropriate.

•	Proof of having begun the procedures to modify the shareholder registration at the Public Registry of Commerce 
if appropriate and corresponds to the kind of corporate structure; or a certified copy of the share transfer in 
the share records (Libro Registro de Acciones). This proof must be presented within 20 working days of the 
decision to make changes. 

In the case of a takeover bid with prior authorization from the National Securities Commission, when the transaction 
does not take place, or is carried out for less than the agreed amount due to lack of agreement among the 
shareholders, access will be provided to the local exchange market within 20 days following the date on which 
the takeover was partially or totally rejected in order to transfer the unused funds to the investor’s account 
abroad.

c) Capital contributions to reimburse equity or transfer funds to an Argentine subsidiary with no equity allocated 
from a foreign company in order to cover negative equity:

•	Audited balance sheet immediately prior to the date in which the currency entered the country, providing proof 
of the amount of losses arising from the cumulative results during the period and the other items making up 
negative equity. 

•	General shareholders’ meeting minutes, or equivalent body, providing proof of the acceptance of the contribution 
specifying its destination. 

•	Sworn statement concerning the destination of the funds, as well as the amount of the funds brought in 
subsequent to the date of the balance statement destined to cover losses if any.

•	Within 90 days following the date of bringing in the funds, the investor must present to the banking entity 
involved the accounting certification regarding the effective use of the funds to compensate for losses, otherwise 
demonstrate that the deposit of 30% has been made. 
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In all the cases mentioned so far, if the appropriate documentation is not presented accordingly, the deposit of 30% 
must be made, to be released 365 days afterwards or upon the presentation of the appropriate documentation. 

d) External financial liabilities at an average life of no less than two years and used to invest in nonfinancial 
assets:

Private sector financial liabilities with foreign entities if used for investing in non-financial assets is exempt from 
the deposit of 30%, as-and-when these debts are taken out and paid off during an average period of no less than 
two years, including the calculation of both interest and capital repayments in this term. 

In this sense, non-financial assets include:
•	Investments included in the balance sheet under “fixed assets”, and/or
•	“Intangible assets per mine costs”, and/or
•	“Research, prospecting and exploration costs”, and/or
•	Acquisition of “exploitation rights” included in the balance sheet under “intangible assets”, and/or
•	Investments in assets comparable to intellectual property rights which are traded by transferring exploitation 

rights and should be included in the balance sheet under “intangible assets”, and/or
•	Purchases of goods and services to be recorded under the heading “inventories” in the balance as long as these 

are not financial assets.

Communication “A” 4672 established the terms and requirements to submit documentary evidence of the operation 
being an exception.

When funds are destined for purchasing capital goods for production, the client has 30 days following the foreign 
exchange negotiation to present the documentation proving the effective application of the funds for this purpose 
as an exception.

When the destination of the financial liabilities described in this section is altered, the investor must make the 
non-remunerated deposit of 30% within 10 days following any change. 

4.2. Tax system 

In Argentina, tax revenue is collected by the Argentine national government, the provinces and municipal authorities. 
The tax system is structured based on dues levied on income, assets and consumption.

At a national level, the Federal Administration of Public Revenues (AFIP, for its acronym in Spanish), an independent 
entity that answers to the Ministry of Economy and Public Finance, is responsible for taxation.

The main taxes levied at national level include: Income Tax, Value Added Tax, Minimum Presumed Income Tax, Excise 
Tax, Personal Assets Tax, and Taxes on Debits and Credits in Bank Accounts and Other Operations. 

At the provincial level, taxation is collected and administered by the provincial duties departments, entities 
subordinate to the respective ministries of economy in the provinces. The main provincial taxes are Gross Income 
Tax (or Turnover Tax), Stamp Tax and Real Estate Tax. 

Municipalities collect a number of taxes and duties.
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4.2.1. Federal taxes

Income Tax

All income, including capital gains, is subject to taxation. Companies residing in Argentina pay taxes on their world 
income. However, they may submit as payment the amount spent on similar taxes on their activities abroad up 
to the limits established on the increase in tax obligations arising from the incorporation of the earnings gained 
abroad. 

For taxation purposes, those considered residents are: Argentines and nationalized foreigners, foreigners with 
permanent residence in Argentina or those who have legally resided in the country for 12 months; the undivided 
estate of deceased taxpayers who were Argentine residents on the date of their death; incorporated businesses 
(SAs) and other business forms (one-person companies, civil associations, foundations, etc.) established in the 
country. Local subsidiaries of companies established abroad are considered resident entities and thus subject to 
taxation. 

The tax rate applicable to resident companies and branches set up in this country belonging to non-resident 
companies is 35% of total earnings.

Non-resident companies that do not own branches or any other permanent establishments in Argentina are only 
subject to taxes on income earned locally. The tax is withheld by a withholding agent in Argentina according to 
a tax scale dependent on the type of income. These rates arise from the application of a 35% levy on presumed 
earnings as established by the law on income tax. 

As in many countries, the taxpayer files an income tax report once a year. The tax result (profit or loss) is determined 
according to rules set by the corresponding legislation on taxable income as regards costs and deductible expenses, 
exemptions and personal deductions, inventory and credit valuation methods, loss carry forwards, etc.

Double taxation agreements (DTA) 

Argentina has signed ample agreements with different countries in order to avoid double taxation for companies 
or individuals in regard to income, capital and/or assets. 

Double taxation agreements signed by Argentina

Country Agreement signed on
(day/month/year) Law Effective date

(day/month/year)

AUSTRALIA 27/08/1999 25,238 30/12/1999

  O.B. 31/12/99  

BELGIUM 12/06/1996 24,850 22/07/1999

  O.B. 22/07/97  

BOLIVIA 30/10/1976 21,780 04/06/1979

  O.B. 25/04/78  

BRAZIL 17/05/1980 22,675 07/12/1982

  O.B. 17/11/82  

CANADA 29/04/1993 24,398 30/12/1994

  O.B. 13/12/94  

CHILE 13/11/1976 23,228 19/12/1985

  O.B. 01/10/85  
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Country Agreement signed on
(day/month/year) Law Effective date

(day/month/year)

Protocol* 23/02/2003 26,232

  O.B. 26/02/07  

DENMARK 12/12/1995 24,838 03/09/1997

    O.B. 24/07/97  

FINLAND 13/12/1994 24,654 05/12/1996

    O.B. 10/07/96  

FRANCE 04/04/1979 22,357 01/03/1981

    O.B. 30/12/80  

Protocol** 15/08/2001 26,276 01/10/2007

    O.B.13/08/07

GERMANY 13/07/1978 22,025 25/11/1979

O.B. 23/07/79

25,332 

 Protocol  16/09/1996 O.B. 14/11/00  30/6/2001

ITALY 15/11/1979 22,747 15/12/1983

    O.B. 24/02/83  

Protocol 03/12/1997 25,396 14/03/2001

    O.B. 15/01/01  

NORWAY 08/10/1997 25,461 30/12/2001

    O.B. 13/09/01  

SPAIN 21/07/1992 24,258 28/07/1994

    O.B. 19/11/93  

SWEDEN 31/05/1995 24,795 10/05/1997

    O.B. 14/04/97  

SWITZERLAND*** 23/04/1997         --- 01/01/2001

            ---  

Protocol of 23/11/2000         --- 01/01/2001
Amendments and 
Additions.           ---  

THE 27/12/1996 24,933 11/02/1998

NETHERLANDS   O.B. 15/01/98  

UNITED 03/01/1996 24,727 01/08/1997

KINGDOM   O.B. 04/12/96  

* Retroactive provisional application: 12/31/2002.

** Source: Directory of Treaties. Ministry of Foreign Affairs, International Trade and Worship

*** The double taxation agreement with Switzerland is only provisionally in force and is currently being renegotiated and awaiting approval.

Value Added Tax (VAT)

VAT is a tax applied on the price of the sales of goods and services at each stage of the commercialization process, 
taking as payment on account the amounts paid of this tax during earlier stages in the process. 
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General VAT is 21% while the differential VAT rate is 10.5%. The latter is applied to various goods and services: 
the sale of capital goods, transport (except for international travel), the sale of newspapers, magazines, brochures 
and periodicals, prepaid health coverage and interest on foreign and domestic bank loans. Finally, a 27% VAT rate 
is applicable to the sale of metered natural gas, electric power and water and telecommunications. Imports are 
also subject to this tax at the same rates as domestic goods or services.

Exports are not subject to tax. Exporters may obtain a refund on the tax credit for VAT billed to them for the goods 
purchased. Services developed in the country whose economic use is carried out abroad are not subject to tax. 

VAT payments must be made monthly; the amount due is the difference between fiscal credit resulting from 
purchases and fiscal debit resulting from sales operations. 

Minimum Presumed Income Tax

This annual tax of 1% applies to all assets (located both in Argentina and abroad) of Argentine companies. It is 
also applied to goods located in Argentina which are the property of permanently established foreign individuals 
or entities. 

The amount to be paid as Income Tax is considered as payment for this particular tax. If the Income Tax to be 
paid is greater than the Minimum Presumed Income Tax, only the former is to be paid. If, however, the Minimum 
Presumed Income Tax is greater than the Income Tax due, the excess may be used for a maximum period of 10 
years to compensate for the potential over-charge of Income Tax defined concerning the allowance mentioned in 
the first instance. 

The calculation of tax credits for parallel taxes paid abroad for goods located outside Argentine territory is admitted. 
Similarly, advances received on account of the taxes to be levied in each tax period should be recorded. 

Personal Assets Tax

The Personal Assets tax is applied to personal wealth, levied on assets owned by individuals and undivided estates 
at the close of each fiscal year (December 31).

Residents are obliged to pay the equivalent to 0.5% of their personal estate if valued between AR$ 305,000; 
0.75% if their personal estate is valued between AR$ 750,000 and AR$ 2 million; 1% if valued between AR$ 2 
million and AR$ 5 million; and 1.25% if valued over AR$ 5 million. It should be noted that individuals established 
in Argentina are liable for taxes on goods located both in Argentina and abroad. 

Individuals whose permanent domicile is outside Argentina are taxed on their assets in Argentina. The applicable 
regime is that of liable proxy subject with a tax rate of 1.25%. 

Nonetheless, since fiscal year 2002, there is a presumption in force which does not admit evidence to the contrary, 
according to which, individuals domiciled abroad or undivided estates established there may indirectly own stock 
and/or shares in the capital of Argentine companies whose owners are companies or any other kind of legally 
valid entity, companies, stable establishments, appropriation of wealth or exploitations, domiciled or established 
abroad. Likewise, as from then, Argentine companies are obliged to calculate and pay taxes on the stock and/or 
shares in the capital of Argentine companies as liable proxy, calculating the rate on the basis of a 0.50% charge 
on the value assigned to the stock/shares (net assets of the Argentine company as of December 31 of each year, 
excepting certain circumstances).
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Excise Tax

These are applied to the consumption of certain products at different rates and according to different payment 
and declaration regimes. In general, these taxes are applied to manufacturers or importers at the moment of 
selling their product (spirits, tobacco, luxury goods, etc.). 

Tax on Debit and Credit Bank Transactions and Other Operations

This tax is applied to credits and debits in bank accounts in entities governed by the Law of Financial Entities. The 
general rate applied is 6‰ (six per thousand) for debits and 6‰ (six per thousand) for credits. 

In addition, all money transactions are taxed 12‰ (twelve per thousand) if carried out using payment systems 
that replace the use of banking current accounts. It should be noted that there are certain differential rates and 
exemptions which may be applied to specific operations.

4.2.2. Provincial taxes

Gross Income Tax

All the provinces and the City of Buenos Aires apply this tax to the gross income of every company carrying out 
any commercial, industrial, agricultural, financial or professional activity. 

The tax is levied on each commercial transaction and no fiscal credits are awarded for taxes paid during the 
preceding periods. The taxes levied vary for different industries and sectors, ranging between 1.5% and 4%. The 
taxes are paid throughout the year with payments made monthly or every two months, varying from province to 
province. Primary and industrial activities are mostly exempt.

Stamp Tax

The Stamp Tax is levied by each province on public or private deeds, contracts and other transactional documents 
of any value.

In general, the tax rate charged is 1% although it may vary according to the deeds as well as the current legislation 
in different provinces. In the City of Buenos Aires, this tax is only applied to transfers of property ownership and 
commercial lease contracts or property sublets. The rate applicable to the transfer of property ownership is 2.5% 
and 0.5% on leases or sublets.

Real Estate Tax

Properties in every jurisdiction are liable for annual taxes which are calculated by applying the rates fixed by the law 
on the taxation of the property’s fiscal valuation of land free of improvements, and on improvements. 

Real Estate Tax is applied to the value of the land and buildings without taking into account the taxpayer’s financial 
situation. The amount is set by the corresponding application body and is calculated according to the tax laws of each 
fiscal period which establish the valuation and rate scales to be applied on taxable income according to the system 
foreseen for each kind of property. 
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4.2.3. Municipal taxes

Municipalities collect a number of fees and contributions for providing services such as industrial safety, public 
hygiene and lighting calculated on the basis of income or other fixed parameters such as personnel figures, driving 
force capacity/horse power, etc.

4.3. Hiring personnel 

4.3.1. Types of hiring contracts

The Law of Employment Contracts No. 20,744 (Ley de Contrato de Trabajo, LCT for its acronym in Spanish) 
establishes the framework for hiring personnel.

Non-fixed-term contracts

Typical employment contracts in Argentina are non-fixed term, which implies that the working relationship may 
continue indefinitely until a specific cause makes it impossible to continue. Possible scenarios include an employee’s 
resignation, dismissal with or without cause decided by the employer, retirement (meeting the legal requirements) 
or the employee’s death. 

The law establishes a trial period of three months before the end of which the employer must register the labor 
relationship. During these three months, both parties are subject to the rights and obligations inherent to an 
employment relationship, with the exception that both employer and employee may terminate the relationship 
without need for justification and without the employee receiving severance. The party seeking termination must 
give 15 days’ notice to the other party.

A non-fixed-term contract generally contemplates a full-time commitment, which is to say eight hours per day, or 
48 hours a week maximum, as established in the sector or in the company’s collective agreement. However, the 
employer may require a worker’s services part-time for a specific number of hours per day or week or month, 
representing less than two thirds of the normal working day (as described in Article 2 of the LCT). In this case, 
remuneration may not be less than the proportional amount which would correspond to a full-time employee 
established either by law or by collective agreement for the same category or job position. Part-time workers 
may not work overtime. 

In a non-fixed term contract, the employer may decide to terminate the relationship without giving any reason. 
After the trial period has finished, the employer must give an employee who has been with the company for less 
than five years a month’s notice and two months’ notice if the employee has worked with the company for more 
than five years. The employer must pay the employee severance based on a month’s salary for each year of 
service, or fraction of a year over three months based on the employee’s historically highest regular monthly wage 
(Article 245 of the LCT). Employees must give two weeks’ notice irrespective of years of service when terminating 
a work contract. 

Special work contracts

In order to provide an appropriate legal framework to suit the specific needs of both companies and employees, 
the LCT contemplates a number of different contract forms: the fixed-term contract (Articles 90 and 93 to 95); 
the temporary work contract (Articles 99 and 100) and the crew or team work contract (Article 101). 
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Fixed-term contracts

This form of contract has a fixed term that cannot exceed a five-year period. It may be used when duly justified, for 
example, to cover a non-permanent post within a company or the post of a worker on leave of absence. 

The contract should be provided in writing and explicitly state its duration. The employer is obliged to give the worker 
due notice (via telegram or certified letter) of the contract’s termination with no less than one month and no more 
than two month’s notice, except when the contract’s duration is less than a month.

If an employer does not provide the worker with due notice of the termination of the contract 30 days before its 
expiry date or if the tasks to be performed do not merit a fixed-term contract, the law establishes that the fixed-
term contract should be considered a non-fixed-term contract.

If the working relationship under a fixed-term contract after a period of at least one year comes to an end as 
foreseen by the term of the contractual agreement or the completion of the tasks and due notice has been given, 
the worker has the right to receive a severance payment. The amount to be paid is calculated as half of the sum 
foreseen by Article 245 of the LCT. 

In the case of unfair dismissal before the expiry date of the contractual agreement, the worker has the right to receive 
the severance payment foreseen for non-fixed–term work contracts (Article 245 of the LCT) in addition to damages 
suffered by the worker due to the breaking of the contract. In general, judges’ rulings award payment of a sum 
equivalent to the wages calculated from the date of termination up until the end of the contract’s original term. This 
payment replaces the one required when the corresponding notice period has not been given by the employer. 

Seasonal / temporary work contracts

Article 96 of the LCT establishes that seasonal or temporary work contracts may be used for hiring workers to 
cover certain tasks corresponding to the company’s seasonal activity and whose very nature means that they 
are only required during certain times of the year and are repeated on a cyclical basis according to the type of 
activity involved. 

This kind of contract covers the services provided by workers working in sectors such as tourism and agriculture, 
specifically in harvesting and other rural activities linked to fruit growing (citrus fruit, soft fruits, etc.). This latter 
activity is not included under the National Agricultural Working Regime (Law No. 22,248).

A seasonal work contract is active and valid during the period of activity; outside the period specified in the 
contract, all obligations cease, meaning that the worker neither provides services nor receives payment from the 
employer.

The law considers temporary work contracts to be non-fixed-term contracts which do not include a trial period. 
If the worker carries out the tasks as required during one season, the worker has the right to be re-hired for 
the following one. In order to make these rights effective, the employer must invite the worker to take up the 
job in writing at least 30 days before the start of the new season. The worker must accordingly issue written 
acceptance or make a physical appearance at the employer’s address within five days of being notified. If the 
employer does not extend the invitation, the worker may consider him/herself unfairly dismissed and has the right 
to receive a severance payment, equivalent to the time worked, added to damages suffered, particularly if the 
season is under way. 

Severance payment is subject to Article 245 of the LCT, not taking into account off-season periods. Severance for 
damages is calculated just as it is in the situation of an unfair dismissal under a fixed-term contract.
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Labor relations in the agricultural sector, excluding the tasks involved in fruit harvesting and/or packing, are 
governed by Law No. 22,248, which provides for different types of contracts, and in the case of cyclic or seasonal 
services, the hiring of personnel must be specified in the framework of a non-fixed-term work contract, the 
regulations for which can be verified in Article 77 and others of the afore-mentioned law. 

Casual work contract

A casual work contract is used for those tasks required by an employer that are not contemplated within the 
sphere of the company’s current activity. A causal work contract can be used for any number of tasks, from 
the refurbishing of an industrial establishment to the presentation of products at a corporate event. It is also 
appropriate for covering tasks which are usually undertaken within the company but have grown in volume or 
quality (for example, replacing a worker on leave or meeting higher work demands).

The employer may decide to hire the worker directly or through a temporary work agency (ESE, for its acronym 
in Spanish) with the appropriate authorization provided by the Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Security. 
These agencies specialize in providing their corporate customers with personnel services to cover the needs 
described above. 

Should the employer decide to hire the workers directly, the contract should be drawn up in writing with copies 
for the worker and the union within the 30 days after its signing. 

If this contract is for the temporary replacement of another worker, the salaried employee must be named in 
the contract, and if the aim is to meet extraordinary working requirements, these should be described in detail, 
outlining the reasons for the situation. 

A casual work contract may not be used to hire a worker in order to replace another that has abstained from 
work to take legitimate strike action, or if the employer has suspended or made redundant other workers as a 
result of a reduction in the number of tasks to be performed over the last six months. 

As the term of these contracts cannot be defined beforehand because their duration is contingent on the task or 
activity to be performed, the working relationship begins and ends with the provision of the service or performance 
of the tasks. 

However, in accordance with the dispositions of National Employment Law No. 24,013, if the contract has the 
purpose of meeting extraordinary market requirements, such cause may not last more than six months per year 
or more than one year every three years (Article 72). 

If these terms are exceeded, the contract is considered to be a non-fixed-term contract featuring the provision 
of services on an interrupted basis (seasonal or temporary work contract) or a non-fixed-term contract featuring 
the ongoing provision of services as appropriate. 

The employer is not under any obligation to give the worker any type of severance payment when the contract 
finalizes upon the conclusion of the tasks, work or services contemplated. However, if before the contract’s term 
is complete, the worker is unfairly dismissed, the worker has the right to receive a severance payment as foreseen 
in Article 245 of the LCT.

Crew or team work contract

Crew or team or group work contracts are drawn up between an employee and a group of workers to undertake 
an activity or tasks which are common to the team or group. 
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The working relationship exists between the employer and each one of the workers making up the team. Once 
they have been hired, each one has the rights and obligations pertaining to any work contract. 

By law a contract in which a company, association, community or group of people are obliged to provide services, 
work or carry out tasks typical of a working relationship for a third party, in a permanent or exclusive form, is 
considered to be a team work contract and each one of its members is taken to be a worker dependent on the 
third party to whom the services have been rendered.

4.3.2. Work experience contracts for training purposes 

The legal system in Argentina contemplates a number of specific labor and non-labor contractual forms designed 
to encourage young people with no job experience to enter the labor market to work for companies and acquire 
necessary experience. These include internships and apprentice contracts.

Apprentice contracts

The aim of this type of work contract is to provide theoretical and practical training. It is regulated by Article 1 
of Law No. 25,013 and amended by Law No. 26,390. 

It is drawn up between an employer and young unemployed person of between 16 and 28 years of age, as-and-
when no prior working arrangement has existed between them. It has a minimum duration of three months and 
a maximum period of one year. Working hours may not exceed 40 hours per week. 

Once the working relationship has finalized as stipulated by the contract, the employer is not obliged to pay the 
worker any form of severance, provided the employer gives the worker 30 days’ notice before the expiry of the 
contract; if proper notice is not given, the employer is liable for half a month’s salary. 

However, if the working relationship terminates before the end of the period stipulated and without due cause 
given by the employer, the worker is entitled to receive the severance payment foreseen in the law applicable to 
workers governed by the non-fixed term contract mode. 

In all cases, the worker or apprentice has the right to demand that the employer supply a certificate stating the 
experience or skill acquired. 

Non-compliance by the employer with the obligations foreseen in the framework of this contract transforms this 
working relationship into one of a non-fixed-term contract, granting the worker the corresponding legal rights. 

As well as these norms, the employer must know that if the apprentice contract is drawn up with a minor between 
16 and 18 years old, the work rules and regulations for minors detailed in Articles 187 to 185 of the LCT apply. 
Furthermore, it should be noted that under no circumstances may an apprentice contract be drawn up if the 
employer is a cooperative or temporary work agency.

Educational internships

A legally constituted company in the private sector may draw up internship working contracts with students from 
higher education institutes, permanent adult education and professional training establishments for people over 
18, when an agreement has previously been drawn up with these educational organizations under the terms of 
Law No. 26,247 which regulates the educational internship system (Sistema de Pasantías Educativas).
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An internship is not considered to be a labor relationship as its objective is to promote learning experiences in public 
or private organizations which are related to the course material studied at the educational establishment. 

The key features of the internship contract are the following: 

• Drawn up in writing and specifying the contents of the educational internship program, as well as duration, 
working hours, place where it is to be carried out and a detailed description of the tasks assigned to 
the intern. 

• According to the terms defined in the agreement, the contract should have a minimum duration of two 
months and a maximum of 12 months. It may be renewed for an additional six months by means of a 
new agreement. 

• The intern has the right to receive a specific sum of money which is not however considered to be 
remuneration. The value of this sum is calculated based on the collective agreement basic salary 
corresponding to the company and is proportional to the number of hours worked by the intern. For 
those activities not contemplated by the collective agreement, the sum is determined by calculating the 
minimum living wage proportionately to the hours worked by the intern.

• The number of hours worked a week must not exceed 20. 
• The intern has the right to study, sickness and accident leave as well as other standard benefits granted 

to company personnel under the terms specified in the regulations. 

The company must provide the intern with the appropriate health coverage as foreseen in Medical Care Insurance 
Law No. 23,660 (Ley de Obras Sociales) and must take out insurance for accident or sickness as foreseen in the 
Occupational Hazards Law No. 24,557 (Ley de Riesgos del Trabajo) to cover eventualities of this kind arising in the 
context of the tasks performed by the intern and /or in the establishment where the intern works. 

The regulations define the maximum number of interns that each company may hire, which is proportional to the 
size of the same and the number of mentors assigned for this purpose. 

4.3.3. Remuneration

Remuneration is defined as retribution received by the worker as a consequence of the work contract (Article 
103 of the LCT). This may consist of a sum of money, or part in money and up to 20% of the total value in kind, 
accommodation or food. 

The amount due as remuneration must be equal in value to that defined for the category of worker’s post on the 
salary scale of the collective agreement applicable to the activity or company in which the employee works.

As regards remuneration, the employer has the following duties:

•	To pay the salary in money by means of a bank deposit in an account in the worker’s name. This account 
must be opened in authorized banking entities with automatic telling machines in a radius of no more 
than two kilometers from the place of work in urban areas, and ten kilometers in non-urban or rural 
areas. Account administration shall not be subject to bank charges. 

•	Provide a paycheck receipt in duplicate.
•	Comply with the payment terms as foreseen by the LCT: for salaried workers, this should be paid at the 

end of the month, while daily workers paid wages should be paid weekly or fortnightly; workers paid 
in parts should be paid weekly or fortnightly for the total amount of work provided during that period. 
Once these periods have expired, the employer has four working days to pay workers paid on a monthly 
or fortnightly basis, and three days for those receiving weekly wages. 
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Minimum living wage

Under no circumstances may the total remuneration received monthly by an employee working a full working day 
be less than the minimum living wage foreseen in Article 14 bis of the Argentine Constitution and foreseen by 
Article 116 of the LCT. 

As detailed in Article 139 of Law No. 24,013, this is defined by the National Council for Employment, Productivity 
and an Adjustable Minimum Living Wage (Consejo Nacional del Empleo, la Productividad y el Salario Mínimo, Vital 
y Móvil) made up of representatives from the private sector, unions and the executive branch of the national 
government. 

Annual complementary salary payment

All workers are entitled to a thirteenth month of salary, known as the “aguinaldo” in Spanish. Law No. 23,041 
and its Regulatory Decree No. 1,078/84 establish that the payment should be calculated on the basis of 50% of 
the highest monthly salary paid in the last six months, once in June and again in December. The aguinaldo is paid 
annually in two installments: the first on June 31 and second on December 31.

Social security

Companies make employer contributions to cover the social security services of their employees. These contributions 
cover family allowances, medical services, pension plans and unemployment funds. The rates are 27% of the 
gross salary paid for employers whose main activity is the provision and lease of services, and 23% for other 
employers.

Remuneration on holidays and non-working days

On national holidays and non-working days, workers should be paid as usual. If required to work during these 
days, they should be paid their normal salary plus an extra 100%.

National holidays and non-working days are listed below:

National holidays 

Date* Occasion

January 1 New Year’s Day

Variable Monday and Tuesday of Carnival

March 24 Memorial Day for Truth and Justice 

April 2 Malvinas´ Veterans Day 

Variable Holy Friday

May 1 Labor Day

May 25 May Revolution Day 

June 20 General Belgrano Memorial Day
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July 9 Independence Day

August 17** General San Martin Memorial Day

October 12** Cultural Diversity Day

November 20** National Sovereignty Day

December 8 Immaculate Conception 

December 25 Christmas Day

* Decree 1,584/2010. 

** The national holiday corresponding to August 17 will fall on the third Monday of that month; the holiday of October 12, on the second Monday of that month; and 
the holiday of November 20, on the fourth Monday of that month. 

Decree 1,584/2010 sets national holidays and establishes that when a holiday falls on a Tuesday or a Thursday 
the Executive Power will set two additional holidays per year coinciding with the Monday or Friday immediately 
after or before the holiday with the objective of fostering tourism. Such days should be remunerated under the 
same conditions as national holidays. These must be established for a three-year period with a 50 days’ notice 
prior to the end of the calendar year. Indeed, Decree 1,585/2010 establishes as holidays with tourism purposes 
March 25 and December 9 of 2011; April 30 and December 24 of 2012; and April 1 and June 25 of 2013.

Non-working days for religious observance 

Date Occasion

Variable Holy Thursday (Christian religious festival)

Variable Jewish Easter*

Variable Jewish New Year*

Variable Yom Kippur*

Variable Eid al-Adha**

Variable Muslim New Year**

Variable Eid al-Fitr **

* Decree 1,584/2010 establishes two days for Jewish New Year and Yom Kippur, and the first two days and the last two days of Jewish Easter as non-working days 
for those professing the Jewish faith. 

** Decree 1,584/2010 establishes one day for Muslim New Year, one day for Eid al-Adha, and the day after Eid al-Fitr as non-working days for those professing the 
Islamic faith.

4.3.4. Occupational hazards

The employer is obliged by law to take out risk insurance to cover occupational hazards either with a work risk 
insurance company (ART, for its acronym in Spanish) or another insurance provider in order to cover all employees 
in case of work-related accidents or illness. 

An accident is considered to be work related if it occurs in the work place or during the journey between work 
and an employee’s home, as-and-when the injured party has not interrupted his/her route for reasons unrelated 

Date* Occasion
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to work. The worker may provide written evidence to the employer, who must in turn present this documentation 
to the insurance company within 72 days, that the itinerary was modified for reasons of study, going to work 
at another location, or attending a sick close relative not sharing the same dwelling. This certificate should be 
presented to the employer within three working days.

Obligatory life insurance

The employer must take out a life insurance policy within 30 days of hiring an employee, which will be is in effect 
from the beginning of the employee’s activity with the company. This life insurance does not cover total, absolute, 
permanent and irreversible disability as it is limited to the worker’s death.

4.3.5. Vacations and leave

Vacation

Ordinary annual leave (vacation) is the amount of paid leave given by the employer to employees. The number of 
days depends on seniority: 14 consecutive days for less than five years and more than six months; 21 consecutive 
days for over five and less than 10 years; 28 consecutive days for over ten and less than twenty years and 35 
consecutive days for over twenty years. 

The worker must have provided services at least during half the working days in the calendar year. If this is not 
the case, the worker is entitled to one day’s leave for every twenty days worked. 

The employer must allow workers to take leave from October 1 to April 30 of the following year. A vacation period 
may be extended by a third of the period immediately prior to it, if this was not used up. This situation should be 
agreed by both parties. Leave begins on a Monday or the following working day if this is a holiday. 

Paid maternity leave

All women have the right to employment stability during pregnancy. The LCT establishes paid maternity leave as up 
to 45 days before birth and up to 45 days after. However, the party concerned may opt to have the period of leave 
before birth reduced to a minimum of 30 days and transfer days to the postnatal period. In the case of premature 
birth, maternity leave is taken after the birth in order to comply with the 90-day period of leave established.  

Once her leave has finished, the mother may either:

a)	Return to work as before.
b)	Resign from her job and receive a severance payment including 25% of the remuneration calculated on the basis 

of the average set in Article 245 for each year of service or fraction over three months. This resignation may be 
tacit (if the decision is not communicated up to 48 hours before the leave period finishes) or explicit.

c)	Request an extension of her leave for an additional period of between three and six months, known as “extended 
leave”, which is not paid. 

The mother has the right to two 30-minute breaks per day for breast-feeding purposes for up to one year following 
the birth of a child.
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Other forms of leave

The worker is entitled to the following special paid leave: 

•	Birth of child: two consecutive days (paternity leave)
•	Marriage: ten consecutive days.
•	Death of wife, partner, children or parents: three consecutive days. 
•	Death of sibling: one day.
•	Exams in university or high school: two consecutive days per exam with a maximum of ten days per calendar 

year. 

Illness

Article 208 of the LCT establishes that each and every blameless accident or illness which prevents the worker 
from providing services shall not affect the worker’s entitlement to receive remuneration for up to a period of three 
months if he/she has a seniority of less than five years and up to six months if seniority is over five years. 

In those cases where the worker is responsible for maintaining a family, and due to illness is prevented from 
working, the periods during which he/she is entitled to receive remuneration may be extended to six or twelve 
months, respectively, depending on whether his/her seniority is less or more than five years. 

Work-related accidents and illness

There is compensation destined to cover contingencies in the case of injury or illness arising in a work-related 
context. These benefits also include invalidity pensions or compensation in the case of death.

Companies should provide medical care and treatment for rehabilitation if necessary. Employers are thus obliged 
to take out policies with work-risk insurance companies to cover these kinds of situations. 

4.3.6. Minimum working age

Law No. 26,390 prohibiting child labor and adolescent labor increased the minimum age of employment to 16 
years of age as of May 25, 2010. Family companies can obtain a permit from the labor administration authorities 
in order to employ a child over 14 years old and under 15 in companies as long as the owner is the child’s father, 
mother or guardian. Children may work three hours a day and up to fifteen hours a week, as long as the tasks 
required are not painful, dangerous or unhealthy, and they are able to meet their school attendance requirements. 
This authorization may not be granted if the company is economically dependent, a subcontractor or supplier of 
another company. 

4.3.7. Dismissal

A work contract may not be dissolved by either party without prior notice. If it is dissolved by the employer, he/she 
must pay severance. The LCT regulates the notice period (Article 231) and establishes that unless the parties fix 
a longer period, this should be as follows: 

a)	by the employee, 15 days;
b)	by the employer, 15 days when the worker is still in the phase of trial period, and one month when the worker 

has a seniority of less than five years, and two months when it is more. (Law No. 25,877).
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The party that omits to give notice or does not give sufficient notice must pay the other a substitute indemnity 
equivalent to the remuneration which corresponds to the worker during the terms given in Article 231 of the LCT. 

The worker has two years in which to instigate legal proceedings for the purposes of collecting payment.

4.3.8. Registering the work relationship 

Whichever the contractual form chosen by the employer and agreed to by the worker as a way of defining the 
provision of services, the employer is obliged to register the work relationship, even during the trial period in the 
case of a non-fixed-term contract. 

The employer must have a Tax Registration Number (CUIT, for its acronym in Spanish) and be registered as an 
employer. Both these procedures may be carried out at the offices of the AFIP. If the worker does not have a Labor 
Registration Number (CUIL, for its acronym in Spanish), this must be requested at the National Social Security 
Administration (ANSES, for its acronym in Spanish). 

Using a registration system known as “Mi Simplificación”, the employer may in a single-step procedure communicate 
the statement of employment to the corresponding health insurance company and work-risk insurance company 
contracted to cover him/her for occupational hazards. The employer should also state the collective agreement 
applicable, data concerning the worker’s family and other significant information about the working relationship.

The employer is obliged to report every new employee and has up until the day immediately prior to the effective 
commencement of his/her tasks, whichever the contractual form chosen, even when these are interns. The 
procedure can be carried out on the Internet by accessing the website of AFIP (www.afip.gov.ar) or in person at 
the local AFIP office where the employer is registered. 

In addition, the employer must register the worker, with the relevant data pertaining to the labor relationship, 
in a legal register (Libro Especial de Sueldos y Jornales) foreseen in Article 52 of the LCT. The register should be 
endorsed by the local labor entity and treated as the accounting books. 

During the duration of the working relationship, the employer must submit to the AFIP a monthly sworn statement 
(AFIP Form 931) with the information regarding the workers currently employed and the salaries or wages paid, 
calculating and making the corresponding social security contributions.

Employers employing five workers or less must meet their obligations to provide a sworn monthly statement 
by using the application on the website called “Su Declaración” (www.afip.gov.ar) which helps to draw up the 
corresponding form using the data already entered by the employer in “Mi Simplificación” and in the Argentine 
integrated retirement system (SIPA, for its acronym in Spanish). This system is currently optional for those 
employers with a staff of six to ten employees. 

Should the working relationship come to an end for whatever reason, the employer should communicate the 
termination of employment at the Registry of Social Security (Registro de Altas y Bajas en Materia de Seguridad 
Social) within five days of terminating the labor contract. 

Registering the work relationship allows the worker to enjoy all the benefits of social security recognized by law, 
including: 

•	 Health coverage for the worker and his/her family.
•	 Insurance for work-related accidents and illness with an ART 
•	 Family allowances.
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•	 Pension or invalidity pension as relevant in the case of an illness which prevents the worker from 
performing his/her allotted tasks. 

•	 If the working relationship is ended against his/her will, the worker is entitled to collect unemployment 
benefit.

4.3.9. Incentives for contracting personnel

For a detailed description of the incentives and benefits for hiring workers, please see Chapter 6, Section 6.5 on 
Employment incentives. 

4.4. Intellectual property

4.4.1. Copyright

Law No. 11,273 protects the copyright of scientific, literary and artistic works, including written works of all kinds 
and lengths. Copyright protection is extended to source and object computer programs; data or other kinds of 
compilations; plays, musical and dramatic musical compositions; film, choreography and pantomime; drawings, 
paintings, sculpture, architecture; art and science models and pieces applied to trade or industry; engravings, 
maps and blue prints; plastic works, photographs, engravings and phonograms.

A copyright represents the exclusive rights granted the author or creator to use, publish, execute, represent and 
exhibit in public, transfer, translate or authorize a translation, adapt and reproduce in any form his/her scientific, 
literary or artistic work.

Copyright protection applies to authors or creators during their lifetime and is transferred to their heirs or 
successors for seventy years as from January 1 following the author’s death. In regard to film, copyright protection 
is extended to fifty years from the death of the last person involved in the film’s making (writer, producer or 
director). Should an author die without a testament and be declared intestate, the copyright on his/her work 
passes into the hands of the state for the duration of the protection period.

Copyright protection for anonymous works produced by institutes, corporations or legal entities lasts fifty years 
from the date of publication. 

Copyright is not considered to have been infringed as long as the work was used for non-commercial purposes, 
specifically for educational or research purposes.

4.4.2. Industrial property

Brands

Law No. 22,362 establishes that the following may be registered as brands in order to distinguish products 
and services: one or more words with or without conceptual content; engravings, prints, seals, images, bands, 
combinations of colors applied in a specific place on the products or packaging; packaging, combinations of letters 
and numbers, letters and numbers drawn in a specific way, publicity phrases, relief work of a distinctive nature 
and any other symbol with this capability. 

The following may not be registered: a) the names, works and symbols which constitute a product or service’s 
habitual designation; b) those which have passed into general usage before the application for registration; c) the 
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form given to a product; d) the natural or intrinsic color of a product; d) the denominations of national or foreign 
origin; f) letters, words, names, emblems or symbols used by national authorities including government, provinces, 
municipalities and religious and health organizations as well as foreign nations and the international organizations 
recognized by the Argentine government; g) names or brands which are misleading; h) advertising slogans which 
are not original; i) names, pseudonyms or representations of a person without their express consent or that of 
their heirs to the fourth degree.

Brand ownership and exclusive use are obtained by means of registration. A registered brand name is valid for 
ten years. It may be renewed repeatedly for equal periods if the same has been used to market a product, render 
services or as part of a specific activity within the five years preceding the conclusion of the validity period. 

Guarantee of origin 

Law No. 25,380 provides protection for an unlimited period of time for geographical information and guarantees 
of origin used for marketing agricultural and food products either in their natural state, prepared or processed, 
which must be registered.

Those who have registered geographical information, and/or guarantees of origin have the right to: a) use the 
geographical information; b) use the guarantees of origin to label agricultural and food products and the name 
identifying these; the exclusive rights to use emblems, badges, initials, logotypes, labels, etc. authorized by the 
competent body; c) the quality control and guarantees specified in the guarantee of origin registered with the 
competent bodies. 

Argentine geographical names

Law No. 25,163 establishes a system which recognizes, protects and registers Argentine geographical names to 
designate the origin of wines and grape spirits. 

Patents

The Patents Law No. 24,481 (Ley de Patentes) enacted by Decree 260/96 establishes that the ownership of an 
invention may only be proven by the provision of the following industrial property deeds: a) invention patents; 
and b) utility model certificates.

New products or procedures that involve creative invention and can be used for industrial application purposes 
are patentable.

The following items cannot be patented: plants, animals, naturally existing biological and genetic material or its 
replica used in the biological processes involved in animal, plant or human reproduction, including processes; nor 
those inventions whose commercial exploitation constitutes a threat to public order, morality, human or animal life 
and good health, or those which should be forbidden in order to protect plant life and the environment. 

The following are not considered inventions: discoveries, surgical, therapeutic or diagnostic treatment methods 
applied to humans or animals, as well as any living substance or naturally pre-existing substance.

The National Institute for Industrial Property (INPI, for its acronym in Spanish)—the authority which enforces patent 
regulations—researches existing patents upon receiving an application, in order to determine whether the patent 
applied for infringes on a registered patent. Objections may be made known within a period of 30 days following 
the publication of the application. 
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Patents are granted for a term of 20 years from the date of application. This term may not be extended.

All new applications presented for tools, work instruments, utensils, devices, equipment or other known objects 
to improve functionality, as-and-when they are new and have an industrial application, are protected by a utility 
model certificate for a period of ten years from the date of application. This period cannot be extended.

Protection of new varieties of plant species

The protection of new plant varieties through the grant of a breeder’s certificate is covered by Law No. 24,376, 
adopting the International Convention for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants and in Law No. 20,247 and 
the Regulatory Decree 2,183/91. The certificate is valid for 15 to 20 years, depending on the particular plant 
species.  

Protection of industrial designs and models

Decrees 6,673/63 and 5,682/65 protect registered industrial designs and models. This refers to the incorporation 
or application of specific features to an industrial product which enhance its ornamental value. 

This protection is granted for five years from the date of the registration application and may be extended for 
two additional consecutive periods of the same duration at the request of the owner. 

This regime does not apply to the following industrial designs or models: a) those which have been publicly exploited 
or published in the country or abroad before the deposit date and those industrial designs or models exhibited at 
fairs or shows held in Argentina or abroad, on condition that the respective deposit be made within six months 
as from the inauguration of the exhibition or fair; b) those lacking either a different configuration or original 
physiognomy which is new and different to previous industrial models and designs; c) those whose elements are 
required due to the function of the product itself; d) when the only change is one of color in a pre-existing model 
or design; and e) it constitutes a threat to public morality and good habits. 

Transfer, assignment or license for technology or brands

Law No. 22,426 regulates the transfer, assignment or license of technology and brands by persons domiciled abroad 
in the favor of legal entities or individuals of either a public or private nature domiciled in Argentina, as-and-when 
such actions have effect in Argentina. 

Operations conducted between a local company of foreign capital and the company which owns it either directly 
or indirectly, or another subsidiary, are subject to prior approval by the National Institute of Industrial Technology 
(INTI, for its acronym in Spanish). 

Lack of approval does not affect the validity of the corresponding legal acts, but any use thereof by the provider 
may not be deducted for tax purposes as expenses by the receiving party, and the total amount paid as a 
consequence of the transfer, assignment or license will be considered net income for the provider. 

Generic drugs

Law No. 24,766 protects the information presented to local health authorities for the approval of new chemical 
entities from disloyal commercial use, and hence such information may not be made public. In practice, this law 
favors the sale of generic drugs as it allows for the offer of “similar” products. Law No. 25,649 thus helps to 
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promote the use of generic drugs by establishing that doctors are obliged to prescribe generic drugs, although 
they may also indicate their commercial name. 

International conventions

Argentina is a signatory of the following international agreements: the Washington Inter-American Convention 
(1946), the Universal Copyright Convention (Geneva 1952), the Berne Convention (1886) and their subsequent 
amendments, including the Paris Union Convention for the Protection of Industrial Property.

Law No. 26,229 adopted the Strasbourg Agreement Concerning the International Patent Classification on March 
24, 1971, while Law No. 26,230 adopted the 1957 Nice Agreement Concerning the International Classification 
of Goods and Services for the Purposes of the Registration of Marks. 

4.5. Environmental laws

Environmental legislation applicable throughout Argentina is enshrined by the general provisions given in the 
Environmental Law No. 25,675 and the Law on Integrated Management of Industrial Waste and Services Activities 
No. 25,612.

There are other standards which regulate specific environmental protection issues, either covering the kinds of 
waste whose generation, treatment and disposal are regulated by law, or referent to the natural resources which 
the law aspires to protect, or specifying the kind of industry which generates the waste, as in the case of mining 
and hydrocarbons. 

4.5.1. Environmental Law 

The Environmental Law establishes the conservation and protection of biodiversity and the implementation of sustainable 
development policies to ensure sustainable and appropriate environmental management. It provides guidelines for 
environmental impact assessment procedures to be used prior to undertaking any kind of work or activity likely 
to harm the environment or one of its component parts, or which may significantly affect the quality of life of the 
population. 

All inhabitants may obtain unclassified environmental information from the authorities. The inhabitants have the right 
to express their opinion concerning the administrative procedures related to the protection and conservation of the 
environment. 

All persons and legal entities of either public or private origin that undertake activities presenting a threat to the 
environment must take out an insurance policy with the appropriate entity in order to guarantee the financing of 
the work required to repair the damage which may arise as a result of their activities. The law also establishes 
responsibilities for those people causing environmental damage. 

4.5.2. Law of Integrated Management on Industrial Waste and Services 
Activities 

This law establishes the minimum thresholds of environmental protection in regard to the integrated management 
of waste generated throughout the country as well as waste derived from industrial processes or from service-
related activities. 
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This legislation forbids the import, introduction and transport into Argentina of all kind of waste originating in 
other countries. Only those waste products previously included on a list issued by the application authorities are 
exempt, as they are intended for use as supplies for industrial processes. Another exception is the transit of waste 
as foreseen in international agreements. 

Authorities from the provinces and the City of Buenos Aires must keep a record of all those persons or legal entities 
responsible for generating, handling, transporting, storing, treating and disposing of industrial waste. 

The nature and quantity of waste, as well as its origin and transfer from the point of generation, during transportation 
to the treatment plant or final disposal must also be documented, as well as any treatment or reduction processes 
to which the waste is subject, and any other operation or process undertaken.

Finally, the law foresees responsibilities for those in charge of generating or transporting industrial waste as well 
as the owners of industrial waste storage, treatment and final disposal facilities. 

4.5.3. Other specific environmental norms

The Law of Hazardous Waste No. 24,051 created a regime covering the generation, handling, transport, treatment 
and final disposal of hazardous waste generated or located in those places subject to national jurisdiction or destined 
for transport outside provincial territory. All waste that may affect either people or the environment or requires special 
safety or health measures is considered hazardous waste. 

There are other environmental protection norms in Argentina such as Law No. 23,922 which adopts the Basel 
Convention governing the trans-frontier movements of hazardous waste; Law No. 25,018 on radioactive waste; Law 
No. 25,670 on the management of PCBs: Law No. 25,916 on household waste, and Law No. 26,011 which adopted 
the Stockholm Convention on persistent organic pollutants. 

The Environmental Water Management Regime outlined in Law No. 25,688 covers the rational use, exploitation 
and conservation of water. The competent bodies must authorize its use, fix the maximum limits of acceptable 
contamination; define guidelines for the refill and conservation of aquifers, set the parameters and water quality 
environmental standards and draw up and update the national plan for the rational use, exploitation and conservation 
of water.

The Law of Atmospheric Contamination No. 20,284 sets the standards for the conservation of air resources. Law 
No. 23,724 ratifies the Vienna Convention for the protection of the ozone layer and Laws No. 23,778, 24,040, and 
24,167 ratify the Montreal Protocol on substances that deplete the ozone layer. 

Furthermore, Law No. 24,292 adopted the International Convention on Oil Pollution Preparedness, Response and 
Co-Operation, while Laws No. 24,498 and 24,585 establish that the exploitation of nuclear minerals requires that 
the natural areas affected be restored and the necessary measures be taken to protect the environment as well as 
the country’s natural and cultural heritage in the context of mining activity. 
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5.1. Legal framework for international trade 

Argentina is a member of the World Trade Organization (WTO) and abides by its principles, norms and guidelines. 
The country also subscribes to the WTO’s Multilateral Agreements on Trade in Goods as well as the General 
Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) and the Agreement on Trade Related Aspects of Intellectual Property 
Rights (TRIPS).

Argentina is a founding member of the Southern Common Market, MERCOSUR, formed with Brazil, Paraguay 
and Uruguay on March 26, 1991 when the four countries signed the Treaty of Asunción. In addition to the free 
circulation of goods, services and production factors throughout the customs union, the member countries exercise 
a common external tariff (CET); negotiate and share common trade policies with third-party states or groups; 
coordinate policy positions taken at regional and international trade and economic forums; and reconcile legislation 
to strengthen the process of integration. 

MERCOSUR has a common nomenclature (NCM, for its acronym in Spanish) to classify products by assigning each 
one an individual tariff line. The tariff line refers to a code made up of the following digits (adding up to a total 
of 11 digits): 

•	Chapter (2 digits)
•	Heading (4 digits)
•	Subheadings of Harmonized System (6 digits, which are commonly used in the framework of the 
Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding System of the World Customs Organization)
•	NCM tariff line (8 digits, commonly used within MERCOSUR) 
•	SIM Code (11 digits, María Computer System used in Argentina, SIM for its acronym in Spanish)

The NCM is available on the Internet on the website of the Federal Administration of Public Revenues (AFIP, for its 
acronym in Spanish): www.afip.gov.ar.

Argentine customs legislation is mainly comprised of the Customs Code (Law No. 22,415) regulated by Decree 
1001/1982 and its amendments. The Customs Code establishes the specific policies and procedures governing 
foreign trade, including the entrance, departure, transport and control of goods. The AFIP is the competent body 
in charge of foreign trade and is responsible for the administration and application of the Customs Code. The 
Customs Office (DGA, for its acronym in Spanish), under the umbrella of the AFIP, is in charge of applying the 
relevant legislation to the export, import and control of the flow of merchandise entering or leaving domestic 
customs areas. 

The Argentine customs service has 56 customs offices located throughout the country and is organized into six 
customs regions. 

5.2. Requirements for international trade operations

5.2.1. Registering with the Exporters and Importers Register

The first requirement for carrying out an export or import operation is to register with Argentina’s exporter and 
importer register (Registro de Exportadores e Importadores). This is mandatory and is done through the DGA. It 
is a one-time procedure and is valid for export and import operations. The registration number allows traders to 
carry out operations at any customs office in the country. Both individuals and legal entities may register, and 
foreign trade procedures may be carried out by a customs broker. 

Applicants must meet the following requirements and present the following documentation in order to register:
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•	 Prove domicile (or corporate headquarters in the case of companies), and constitute domicile in 
Argentina;

•	 Be registered with the Argentine Public Registry of Commerce (PRC) either as a trader or company;
•	 Provide a Tax Registration Number (CUIT, for its acronym in Spanish) as proof of the trader or 

company’s registration with the AFIP;
•	 Supply evidence of solvency and provide the DGA with a guarantee for the faithful compliance of 

obligations if deemed necessary.

Registering with the Register of Exporters and Importers 

Steps Requirements

1
Application for 
registration with the 
Register of Exporters 
and Importers 

Applicants should visit the division of the Registry of the General Sub-
department of Legal and Technical Customs Affairs, for the customs 
offices in Buenos Aires and Ezeiza, or the registration section of the 
customs offices in the provinces, corresponding to their legal domicile, 
with the following documentation:

• 	Two copies of Form OM 1228/F. 
•	 Certified copy of the company statutes. 
• 	Copy of the notarized minutes of the last shareholders’ meeting 

detailing the names of the company authorities, certified and legalized 
by the corresponding Public Notaries College.

• 	Proof of registration in the taxpayers registry (Padrón Único de 
Contribuyentes y Responsables).

• 	CUIT certificate.

2
Certificate of good 
conduct prior to 
registration

• 	Once the application for registration has been received, the registration 
division sends a certified copy of form OM-1228/F to the division of 
prevention records (División Sumarios de Prevención Sección Registro de 
Infractores) to run a background check on the individuals listed on the 
form. 

• 	Once the certificate of good conduct has been issued, the registration 
process is authorized. If any complications arise, the application will be 
rejected.

3 Control, Authorization 
and Registration 

• 	The registration division ensures that the afore-mentioned 
requirements are met, and then forwards the applications to the 
investigations office and the risk control office. The applications must 
be returned with the input of both offices so that the registration 
division may complete its task.  

• 	The registration division intervenes in form OM-1228/F in order to 
authorize the registration and then enters the data for the applicant 
and other authorized parties if relevant into the registration system. 

5.2.2. Registration as a non-frequent exporter

Registering as a non-frequent exporter is the option for individuals or companies who want to carry out a specific 
foreign trade operation; once the trade operation is completed, the individual or company is removed from the register. 
Before the operation takes place, the SIM is consulted to check that the entity has been given exporter status.

Once the exporter permit has been authorized, the non-frequent exporter status is valid for 60 days; if no operations 
are carried out during that period, it is automatically delisted. 
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Those companies wanting to undertake a single operation should present the following documentation to register:

•	 Copy of form OM 1752-C (blue form), certified by a customs agent or public notary; 
•	 Photocopy of identity document; 
•	 Photocopy of CUIT;
•	 A document describing key positions within the company (Acta de Distribución de Cargos), which must only 

be certified by a public notary (in the case of a company) 

5.3. Exports: relevant steps and information

The Customs Code defines the concept of exports as the withdrawal of any merchandise from a national 
customs territory. Upon withdrawing merchandise from a customs territory, it is assigned a destination or end-
use. This destination may be definitive (for consumption purposes) or non-definitive, which includes temporary 
exports and merchandise in transit. 

The export of a specific product requires the exporter to be familiar with the customs procedures to be 
undertaken, the refund regime provided for by the government for each product and the current regime of 
export duties applicable, among others. The basic information required to export from Argentina is given below. 

5.3.1. Customs procedures

When exporting, the first requirement involves identifying the tariff line in the NCM of the product to be exported. 
This will indicate which export refunds correspond to the product as well as export duties, government incentives 
and the tariff and non-tariff barriers the product will face at its destination.

It is also necessary to establish the destination of the merchandise to be exported. Normally, the destination is 
a definitive export for consumption purposes. In order to assign a destination to the merchandise, the exporter 
must fill out a destination application, usually denominated shipping permit. The document must be completed 
and entered in SIM, the information system connecting all the customs offices, the customs agents and public 
booths. 

The shipping permit must be accompanied by a declaration of customs valuation (Hoja de Valor), which is a sworn 
statement detailing the features of the operation and the different elements which have a bearing on the make-
up of the merchandise’s value for customs purposes. The aim is to define the taxable base used to apply export 
duties, as well as the exchange rate and export refunds if applicable.

If the results of the controls carried out are positive, Customs records the export destination and the information 
system automatically determines the type of controls Customs needs to apply to the merchandise to be exported, 
known as the “selection channel”.

There are three export selection channels: 

•	 Green Channel: there is no need to check either the documentation or the actual merchandise. 
•	 Orange Channel: Customs needs to review the documentation.
•	 Red Channel: in this case, both the export documents and merchandise need to be examined by 

Customs. 
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With the presentation of the destination application form and the documentation required for the operation, the 
legal and regulatory conditions are considered to be met and thus the merchandise may be released. This means 
that it may leave the national customs territory either by air, land or sea. The release is conditional upon the 
payment or guarantee of the relevant duties. 

Shipping documentation to be presented at Customs

When exporting, a business person must be represented at the DGA by a customs broker, who acts as an 
intermediary in exchange for a fee and processes the merchandise and the corresponding administrative 
documentation so that the goods may leave the country and be sent to the destination indicated by the 
exporter. 

Depending on the type of payment and sales conditions, the documentation required is typically the 
following:

- 	Commercial invoice, known as Invoice E, which complies with the standards required by the AFIP;
- 	Packing list;
- 	Certificate of origin;
- 	Bill of lading / Air waybill / Waybill (Carta de Porte). This documentation refers to the means of transport 

chosen to deliver the merchandise. The first document applies to seagoing transport, the second to air 
transport and the third to land transport (road or rail). 

- 	Health certificates if required; 
- 	Pre-shipping inspection certificate if required by the importing country.

Some countries or purchases may require different and/or additional documentation.

Authorized Economic Operator (AEO)

Argentina adheres to the Authorized Economic Operator (AEO) system within the Framework of Standards to 
Secure and Facilitate Global Trade (SAFE), a program of the World Customs Organization (WCO). This system allows 
foreign trade operators to access major benefits which allow them to speed up their operations, optimizing costs 
and helping customs authorities to perform their tasks in the area of safety as required by the WCO.

The system is a mutual agreement between customs authorities and foreign trade operators to guarantee the 
security and smooth running of customs operations, making operators more competitive while improving customs’ 
resource management. 

5.3.2. Regime of export refunds

The export refund system consists of the total or partial refund of domestic taxes (Gross Income, VAT and municipal 
taxes) paid during the different phases of production and marketing of the merchandise to be exported. Said 
merchandise must be new, never been used and manufactured in Argentina. The objective of this regime is to 
deduct domestic taxes already paid from the export value. 

If the merchandise was manufactured using inputs directly imported by the exporter, the refund is made on value 
added in Argentina, which means that the duty is levied on the FOB value once the CIF value has been deducted 
from the supplies imported. 
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The exporter is reimbursed once the documentation certifying the shipping of the merchandise has been presented 
to the DGA’s refund department.

For further information, see Chapter 6, Section 6.7 (Export promotion) in this guide. 

5.3.3. Export duties

In Argentina, some merchandise is subject to export duties which may be 5%, 10% or 20% on the FOB value of the 
product (in some specific cases, the corresponding export tariff may exceed this value). 

The duties may be specific or ad valorem (export duties calculated based on a percentage of the taxable value of the 
merchandise or official FOB prices if relevant). Specific export duties are a set amount, representing a fixed sum of money 
per measurement unit.

5.3.4. Regime of VAT exemptions

Current legislation allows for VAT to be refunded on exported goods and services.

VAT may be refunded in any of the following manners: 

•	 Compensation: debits as a result of previous operations on the domestic market.
•	 Credit: against tax obligations owed by the exporter to the AFIP, other than VAT.
•	 Transfer: the transfer of VAT credit to another taxpayer. 
•	 Return: to the holder of the tax credit either in cash or bonds.

Exporters may use as fiscal credit those taxes for goods, services or rental destined for export, or those charged 
during the process, as-and-when these are linked to exports and have not been used. 

If the VAT is not fully refunded, or only in partial form, the balance will be credited against other taxes or refunded 
to the exporters. In order to benefit from a credit, refund or transfer, exporters must be registered in the Register 
of Exporters and Importers. 

5.3.5. Other aspects

Product certification

Some international markets offer preferential market access for a range of products from Argentina. Products must 
comply with a series of regulations in order to be eligible for these preferential tariffs. Compliance is proven with a 
certificate of origin and/or certification of adherence to required technical or quality standards. These certificates 
are issued by the corresponding government organization. 

Certificate of Origin

For merchandise to be granted preferential treatment as foreseen in a trade agreement, the exporter must prove 
that the merchandise was effectively produced in one of the countries adhered to the agreement. A certificate 
of origin provides this official proof. Some countries, for example every country in the European Union, require all 
imports to carry certificates of origin, whether or not a preferential tariff applies.
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In order for a good to be granted a certificate of origin, usually a percentage of the total aggregate value 
corresponding to the production processes must be undertaken in the country to be dominated as the product’s 
country of origin. In some cases, the denomination of origin may also be obtained as a result of changes in tariff 
lines if the product undergoes a certain number of transformations in the exporting country.

In Argentina, the afore-mentioned certificates are issued by private institutions supervised by the Ministry of 
Industry, including: the Association of Importers and Exporters of Argentina (AIERA, for its acronym in Spanish); 
the Argentine Chamber of Exporters (CERA, for its acronym in Spanish); the Chamber of Commerce, Industry 
and Production of the Argentine Republic (CACIPRA, for its acronym in Spanish), and the Argentine Chamber of 
Commerce (CAC, for its acronym in Spanish).

Technical, sanitary and phytosanitary certifications

The process of technical, sanitary and phytosanitary certifications involves verifying compliance with aspects such 
as the content, composition, manufacturing process, packaging, labeling, quality, sanitary and shipping conditions 
of the merchandise. The certification of these norms makes it possible to export products that must comply with 
standards in the domestic market in addition to those in force in their destination markets. 

Some products require the intervention of official organizations to vouch for their quality and authorize their sale 
abroad. Depending on the type of merchandise to be exported, the following organizations may intervene:

•	 Food products for human consumption: National Food Institute (INAL, for its acronym in Spanish).
•	 Non-food products of animal origin, including sub-products and by-products: National Service for Agri-food 

Health and Quality (SENASA, for its acronym in Spanish). 
•	 Vegetables and non-food vegetable by-products, agrochemicals and biological products: Argentine Animal 

Health and Quality Institute (IASCAV, for its acronym in Spanish).
•	 Nuclear elements and materials: National Atomic Energy Commission (CNEA, for its acronym in 

Spanish).
•	 Drugs or products for human health: National Secretary of Public Health.
•	 Drugs and psychotropic substances: Secretary for the Prevention of Drug Addiction and the Campaign 

against Drug Trafficking.
•	 Flora and fauna: National Secretary of the Environment and Sustainable Development.
•	 Books and other printed or illustrated material containing maps: National Geographical Institute (IGN, for 

its acronym in Spanish).

Generalized System of Preferences (GSP)

The Generalized System of Preferences (GSP) covers the partial or total waiver of import duties granted by some 
developed countries on certain products exported by developing countries. In Argentina, a special certificate issued 
by the Ministry of Industry is necessary in order to be eligible for GSP benefits. 

Some of the countries which grant this waiver are: the United States, Switzerland, Norway, Canada, Japan, New 
Zealand, Australia, Belarus and the Russian Federation, as well as member countries of the European Union. 

The products which benefit from GSP are included on the positive lists (products with the right to preferences) 
drawn up by the countries issuing the preferences. These products must meet certain criteria of origin set by 
each country. 
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Bringing in currency

Resolution No. 13/2002 issued by the Ministry of Economy establishes that exporters must deposit the funds from 
their export operations in the local financial system, meeting specific terms established in the resolution and other 
complementary and amending legislation, according to the product. The income must be deposited in a checking 
account or savings account in Argentine pesos in a financial entity.

The Central Bank of the Argentine Republic governs operations through the Single Free Exchange Market and 
regulates how foreign currency from exports may enter the country as well as how imports payments with banking 
intervention (according to certain requirements) are made. 

5.4. Imports: relevant steps and information

The Customs Code defines the concept of imports as the entry of any merchandise into the general national 
customs territory from a destination which is outside said territory. 

As far as the code is concerned, the hire and provision of services abroad are treated on the same basis as 
merchandise, as-and-when they are used or exploited in the country (this does not include those services provided 
in commercial conditions which compete with one or more services providers). This also applies to copyright and 
intellectual property. 

5.4.1. Types of imports

There are two types of imports according to destination: definitive and non-definitive. Definitive imports are 
destined for consumption and as such, the merchandise may remain in customs territory indefinitely, ensuring that 
it may be valued for the purposes of establishing the corresponding tax and duties to be levied.

Non-definitive imports include temporary imports, those in transit and those for warehousing. Temporary imports 
are those where the merchandise imported may remain for a specific purpose and fixed term within the customs 
territory, subject, from the moment of its release, to the obligation of re-export for consumption before the expiry of 
the said term. The merchandise may remain in the same state as it was imported temporarily, or it may be subject 
to transformation, elaboration, combination, blend, repair or any other improvements or benefits. The import of 
merchandise under this regime is not subject to any duties other than a retributive service tax. 

Imports in-transit are not granted free circulation in the customs territory, however they can be transported 
from the customs point of entry to another customs point within Argentina in order to be shipped to another 
customs destination. Merchandise imported under this regime is not subject to any duties other than a retributive 
service tax.

Finally, import of items for warehousing involves the import of merchandise which is then stored under customs 
control for a fixed period before leaving for another authorized destination. 

5.4.2. Import licenses 

Imports to Argentina require a license, which importers can apply for by providing the documentation required by 
the pertinent administrative body. This is a pre-condition before importing goods. 
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Argentine legislation incorporated the Agreement on Import Licensing Procedures passed by the WTO. There are 
two kinds of import licenses: automatic and non-automatic. 

Automatic import licenses are those which are always approved as long as the information requested is correctly 
presented and complete. In general, the procedure takes no more than 10 working days. The automatic licenses may 
either be automatic licenses prior to import (Licencias Automáticas Previas de Importación) or a sworn statement 
of product composition (Declaración Jurada de Composición del Producto) according to the merchandise. 

Non-automatic import licenses require the presentation of an import certificate provided by the Secretary of Trade 
and Commerce of the Ministry of Industry prior to import. The list of products which require non-automatic licenses 
may be consulted online: www.comercio.gov.ar.

5.4.3. Tariffs and duties

Common External Tariff (CET) 

MERCOSUR member countries established a common external tariff to be applied to imports throughout their 
territories, replacing tariffs set by each member country for third-party countries. 

CET levels range from 0% to 35%, which is the WTO’s consolidated rate for MERCOSUR countries. In 2009, 
Argentina applied an average rate of 12.6% to all imported goods as a whole, an average rate of 10.3% for 
agricultural goods and 13.0% for manufactured goods.  

As a general principle, products with greater added value have a higher CET, although other aspects are taken into 
account in order to define tariffs, such as the possibility of establishing regional supply sources.

There are exceptions to the CET where member countries may set differential rates for certain products. 

Statistics Tax

Statistics Tax is an ad valorem tax of 0.5%—up to US$ 500—applied to the customs valuation of merchandise. 
There are some exceptions to the payment of this rate: for instance, merchandise from the member states 
of MERCOSUR as well as new and unused merchandise included in the tariff lines capital goods and IT and 
telecommunications, among others (Decree No. 690/02).
 

Verification of destination charges (Tasa de Comprobación de Destino)

Verification of destination tax is applied in those cases where customs provides on-site control to check that the 
obligations conditioning the tariff benefits granted to a given product are met. This is an ad valorem tax which 
may not exceed 2% of the value of the merchandise. The tax base used to settle the verification of destination 
tax is the one on which import duties are applied. 

Tariff for the use of the SIM

The AFIP adopted a general resolution providing for a single fixed tariff of US$ 10 to be paid for each detailed 
destination and/or operation for import documented using the SIM. The cost of this operation is to be paid for 
by the user. 
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5.4.4. Other aspects

There are numerous incentive regimes designed to promote the import of capital goods, the temporary import of 
capital goods and the import of used production lines, whose principal objective is to encourage the incorporation 
and use of machinery and new technology in the country’s productive industries. 

For further information, see Chapter 6, Section 6.1 (Incentives for investment in capital goods and infrastructure) 
in this guide.
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Chapter 6. Investment incentives 
Public sector support to foster investment 

Argentina has numerous incentive programs in place which have been designed to facilitate domestic and foreign 
investment in the country. The national, provincial and municipal authorities have several incentive regimes currently 
being implemented. These include horizontal and sector incentives as well as relocation, innovation, technological 
development, employment, investment financing and export promotion incentives. The characteristics and benefits 
of the available programs are described below.

6.1. Investment incentives for capital goods and infrastructure

6.1.1. Law to promote investments in capital goods and infrastructure works

Norm: Law No. 26,360.

Benefits: A regime of incentives for investment in capital goods and infrastructure which establishes an accelerated 
depreciation for Income Tax purposes and/or the early refund of VAT. 

Eligibility: Legal entities or individuals with an investment project dedicated to industrial activities or infrastructure 
projects.

Requirements:
• Beneficiaries must prove the creation of genuine jobs in compliance with current labor legislation in the 

project’s sector. 
• The activities promoted must be related to investments in new capital goods which are classified as depreciable 

assets for Income Tax purposes (except for motor vehicles) and are destined for industrial activity and 
infrastructure projects. 

For more information: www.infoleg.gov.ar

6.1.2. Exemption from import duties on capital goods

Norms: Resolution No. 8/2001 and amendments, Decree No. 509/2007, Resolution No. 15/2007 (Ministry of 
Economy and Public Finance). 

Benefits: An extra-MERCOSUR import duty of 0% is established for the import of new capital goods whose tariff 
lines are included in Decree 509/2007 and its amendments. These goods are also exempt from the Statistics Tax. 

Eligibility: Importers of new capital goods. 

Application authority:  Customs Office (DGA, for its acronym in Spanish). 

For further information: www.afip.gov.ar 

6.1.3. Reduction in Value-Added Tax (VAT)

Norms: Decree No. 493/2001, Decree No. 496/2001, Decree No. 615/2001, Decree No. 733/2001, Decree No. 
959/2001.
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Benefits: A reduced tax rate of 10.5% (the standard rate is 21%) is applied to the purchase and import of finished 
capital goods and IT and telecommunications finished products and parts. Additional VAT applied to the import of 
personal property is also reduced, generally to half the amount applicable. 

Eligibility: Buyers and importers of finished capital goods, IT and telecommunications finished products and parts.

Application authority: Federal Administration of Public Revenues (AFIP, for its acronym in Spanish).

For further information: www.infoleg.gov.ar  
 1.3.

6.1.4. Incentives for national production of capital goods, IT, 
telecommunications and agricultural machinery

Norms: Decree No. 379/2001 and amendments. Decree No. 917/2010.

Benefits: Designed to encourage domestic investment in and production of capital goods, IT, telecommunications 
and agricultural machinery, the incentive provides local manufacturers with a tax refund, equivalent to 14% of 
the value of the goods produced. This refund is made in the form of a fiscal bond and can be used to offset VAT, 
Income Tax, and Excise Taxes as well as Minimum Presumed Income Tax. 

Eligibility:  Manufacturers of capital goods, IT, telecommunications and agricultural machinery. 

Application authority: Ministry of Industry.

For further information: www.industria.gov.ar 

6.1.5. Import regime for large industrial investment projects

Norms: Resolution No. 256/2000 and amendments.

Benefits: The regime allows investment costs to be offset by reducing tariffs to zero on imported capital goods 
that make up a complete and autonomous production line. The program also allows for replacement parts to 
be imported up to a value of 5% FOB of the production line. It should be noted that, aside from capital goods, 
there are many other elements which make up a production line and are subject to tariffs, as is the case with 
pumps and mechanical equipment, for instance. Thus, the savings represented by the tariff reductions on the one 
hand should be weighed up against other duties and the consignment of replacement parts itself, which would 
be subject to tariffs in any other situation. 

Eligibility: Importers of capital goods for large investment projects. 

Application authority: Secretary of Trade and Commerce, Ministry of Industry. 

For further information: www.comercio.gov.ar 

6.1.6. Imports of Complete and Autonomous Used Production Lines

Norms: Resolution No. 511/2000 and amendments. Decree No. 2,259/2009.
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Benefits: Equipment and capital goods may be purchased abroad as long as they are part of an autonomous 
production line which is an integral part of an investment project for the industrial production of fixed assets. 
Goods imported under this regime are subject to an import duty of 6% and are exempt from Statistics Tax and 
destination confirmation tax (Tasa de Comprobación de Destino). This is a significant reduction considering that 
import duties on capital goods are 28% (twice the common external tariff). 

Eligibility: Domestic and foreign companies established in the country that produce tangible assets and financial 
entities and/or companies offering leasing contracts. 

Application authority: Ministry of Industry.

For further information: www.comercio.gov.ar

6.1.7. Temporary import of capital goods

Norms: Law No. 22,415, Decree No. 1001/1982 and Disposition of the Customs Office No. 34/1998.

Benefits: Temporary import means that the capital goods imported may only remain for a specific purpose and 
period of time within the customs zone, and must be re-exported before the period of time stipulated expires upon 
their release from customs. Depending on the operational characteristics of the company, it may be necessary to 
have access to capital goods for a specific period and then return them abroad. This temporary admission regime 
allows the capital goods to enter the country without paying import duties and to remain for a maximum of three 
years, with the possibility of obtaining a further extension equal to no more than the original term. 

Eligibility: Operators registered in the Register of Exporters and Importers. 

Application authority: Customs Office.

For further information: www.infoleg.gov.ar 

6.2. Industry-specific incentives

6.2.1. Regime to promote the automotive and auto parts industries

Norms: Law No. 26,393 Development and Consolidation of the national auto-parts industry and Economic 
Complementary Agreements No. 35, 55 and 57.

Description: The regime to promote the automotive industry establishes a set of incentives to stimulate domestic 
automotive and auto parts production. 

International agreements for automotive and auto-part industry:
• Automotive Agreement between Argentina and Brazil signed in June 2008 and valid until June 30, 2014. It 

establishes thresholds for imports from third countries and conditions relating to country of origin. It also 
sets out a bilateral trade administration model through an export divergence measure (also known as FLEX). 
This mechanism establishes that for each US$ 1 exported by one of the two countries, the other may export 
up to US$ 1.95.

• Economic Complementary Agreement with Uruguay that establishes a trade administration arrangement 
between the two countries.
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• Economic Complementary Agreement with Mexico to eliminate external tariffs on automotives and auto parts.
• Economic Complementary Agreement with Chile for free trade.
• Regime to strengthen Argentina’s auto parts industry, offering a cash reimbursement for the value of the 

purchases of locally manufactured auto parts acquired by automotive manufacturers for the purposes of 
producing new models, including utility vehicles, trucks, buses, die cast molds, and differential shafts. The 
benefits provided on the ex-works value are equivalent to a percentage between 8% and 6% which decreases 
over a period of three years.

• Regime to consolidate the domestic production of engines and gearboxes: The measure consists of a cash 
reimbursement for the purchase of local auto parts used in the manufacturing of engines and gearboxes 
for automotives, utility vehicles, buses, trucks, tractors, self-propelled agricultural and road machinery. The 
reimbursement on the ex-works value is equivalent to a percentage between 10% and 6% which decreases 
over a period of five years.

For further information: 
www.industria.gov.ar 
www.sub-industria.gob.ar/regimen_automotriz/about/acuerdos-internacionales/ 

6.2.2. Software industry promotion regime

Norms: Law No. 25,922 Promotion of the Software Industry, and Law No. 25,856 Software Production as an 
Industry.

Description: The regime aims to promote the creation, design, development, production, implementation and 
fine-tuning of software systems developed as well as their technical documentation, in terms of basic aspects 
and applications, and including the development necessary to integrate it into different processors (in-house 
development is excluded).   

Benefits: 
• Software design, development, and production are considered to be industrial activities for tax or credit 

purposes and the activities benefit from any other incentives offered by the Argentine government to industrial 
companies.

• Fiscal stability covering all national taxes, duties and direct contributions for 10 years. 
• Non-refundable and non-transferable fiscal credit (except corporate Income Tax) for up to 70% of employer 

social security contributions which may be used to offset federal tax liabilities. 
• 60% reduction in corporate Income Tax during each fiscal period if the company is able to prove that it has 

incurred expenses related to R&D and/or quality certification processes and/or software exports according 
to specific terms. 

For further information: www.industria.gov.ar 

6.2.3. Promotion of state-of-the-art biotechnology development and production

Norm: Law No. 26,270 Promotion of State-of-the-art Biotechnology Development and Production.

Description: The law defines state-of-the-art biotechnology as all technological applications based on rational 
knowledge and scientific principles from the fields of biology, biochemistry, micro-biology, bio-informatics, molecular 
biology and genetic engineering that use live organisms or parts of these to obtain goods and services, or for 
the substantial improvement of productive processes and/or products. The use of the word “substantial” means 
that it includes innovative content suitable for industrial application, resulting in a social and economic impact, in 
addition to cost reductions and productivity increases. 
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Benefits: 
• Accelerated depreciation for Income Tax purposes on capital goods, special equipment or parts of these 

goods, which are new and acquired specifically for the project benefiting from the promotion. 
• Early refund of VAT paid on the purchase of capital goods, special equipment, or parts of these goods, which 

are new and acquired specifically for the project benefiting from the promotion incentive.
• 50% of the amount invested in the outsourcing of research and development services from national public 

science, technology and innovation institutions exclusively for research /development projects may be 
converted to fiscal credit bonds.

• 50% of the amount of paid-up employer’s social security contributions may be transferred as fiscal credit 
bonds. 

• Capital goods, special equipment and parts of these goods, which are new and acquired specifically for the 
project are not included in the taxable base for the purposes of Minimum Presumed Income Tax, nor any tax 
that might complement, amend or replace it in the future. 

For further information: www.infoleg.gov.ar 

6.2.4. Biofuels promotion regime

Norms: Law No. 26,093, Regulatory and Promotion Regime for the Sustainable Production and Use of Biofuels 
and Decree No. 109/2007 Biofuels. These include bioethanol, biodiesel and biogas, which are produced from raw 
materials of agricultural or agro-industrial origin or from organic waste matter. 

Benefits: 
• VAT and Income Tax: the acquisition of capital goods or the undertaking of the corresponding infrastructure 

works benefit from accelerated depreciation for on Income Tax purposes and /or the early refund of VAT (the 
same treatment as Law No. 25,924). 

• The goods involved in projects to sustainably produce, blend, market, distribute, consume and use biofuels 
are exempt from Minimum Presumed Income Tax during the first three years. 

• Biodiesel and bioethanol produced to meet the levels set for blending biofuels with fossil fuels are exempt
from the Water Infrastructure Tax, the Liquid Fuels and Natural Gas Tax, and the specific tax on gasoil.

For further information: www.minplan.gov.ar 

6.2.5. Regime to promote the motorcycle and motorcycle parts industries

Norm: Law No. 26,457 Incentive Regime for Local Investment for the Manufacture of Motorcycles and Motorcycle 
Parts. 

Description: This measure establishes the national and progressive integration of motorbike spare parts into the 
domestic motorcycle manufacturing industry. The regime foresees a lowering of the ceiling on import duties, set 
at 50% in the first year and reaching 30% by the fifth year of application. Furthermore, it also establishes fiscal 
and tariff benefits for companies developing production projects with a minimum duration of five years. 

Benefits: 
Tariff treatment: according to the production project, companies may enjoy the following benefits for up to five 
years: 

• Reduction of 60% in extra-MERCOSUR import duties of motorcycle parts. 
• Reduction of 40% in extra-MERCOSUR import duties for CKD (completely knocked down) and SKD (semi 

knocked down).
• Reduction of up to 20% in extra-MERCOSUR import duties for CBU (completely built up).
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Fiscal benefits: a fiscal bond for the purchase of locally manufactured motorcycle parts which may be offset against 
national taxes for a percentage of the ex-works value net of taxes (25% for 2009 and decreasing on an annual 
basis thereafter).

For further information: www.sub-industria.gob.ar/blog/2010/03/10/regimen-de-incentivo-a-la-inversion-local-
para-la-fabricacion-de-motocicletas-y-motopartes 

6.2.6. Mining industry promotion regime

Norms: Law No. 24,196 Mining Activity, Laws No. 25,429 and No. 25,161 and amendments. Law No. 1,919 Mining 
Code, Decree No. 456/1997 Mining Code, and Law No. 25,225 Mining Code.

Description: The regime defines a set of incentives aimed at promoting investment in exploratory activities. 

Benefits: 
• Double deduction of exploration expenses for the purposes of calculating Income Tax. 
• Deduction of up to 100% of the amount invested in determining the viability of the project for the purposes 

of calculating Income Tax. 
• VAT refund on exploration costs after a 12-month period. 
• A 30-year period of fiscal stability will be granted once the feasibility study presented to the national mining 

authorities has been approved.
• Accelerated depreciation mechanisms for Income Tax purposes.	
• Exemption from import tariffs on capital goods. Beneficiaries may be mining companies or companies providing 

mining services. 
• Early refund and financing of VAT for the definitive import or purchase of new capital goods and investment 

in infrastructure for the productive project of new exploitation projects or those expanding current productive 
capacity.

• Exemption from Minimum Presumed Income Tax, elimination of duties on exports, provincial and municipal 
taxes, a ceiling on royalty payments and capitalization of reserves. 

• During the first five years of the concession, the ownership of the mine will be exempt from all taxes or 
duties applicable to the production and marketing of mining activity. 

For further information: www.mineria.gov.ar 

6.2.7. Forestry regime

Norms: Law No. 25,080 Investments for Planted Forests and Law No. 25,509 Forestry.

Description: Regulation of planting and exploitation processes and forestry industrialization.

Benefits:
• A 30-year period of fiscal stability will be granted, which may be extended to a maximum of 50 years.
• Special depreciation regime for Income Tax. 
• Early VAT refund, tax exemptions and non-refundable subsidies/grants for planted forests. 

For further information: www.minagri.gob.ar
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6.2.8. Regime to promote the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbons

Norm: Law No. 26,154 Hydrocarbons

Area of application: All those areas listed in Law No. 25,943 and those with geological potential over which there 
are currently no third-party rights as granted by Law No. 17,319. The regime establishes a 15-year period for the 
exploration and exploitation of the continental shelf; 12 years for areas in sedimentary basins with no production; 
and ten years for areas in sedimentary basins with production.

Benefits:
• Early VAT refund on the total amount of expenses and investments made in the exploration phase as well 

as on the investments made in the exploitation period. 
• Income Tax: all expenses capitalized and investments made during both exploration and exploitation phases 

are depreciated in three equal, consecutive yearly amounts as from the year these expenses and investments 
were made. 

• Assets belonging to parties owning the exploration permits and exploitation concessions granted under this 
law are not included in the calculations of the taxable base for Minimum Presumed Income Tax during a 
maximum of three years as from the contract award date. 

• Exemption from the payment of import duties and any other tax, levy or duty as regards the import of capital 
goods not manufactured in Argentina which are necessary for exploration activities. 

For further information: www.minplan.gov.ar 

6.2.9. Public infrastructure works

Norms: Decree No. 966/2005 National Regime for Private Initiatives and Decree No. 967/2005 National Regime 
of Public-Private Associations

Description: To promote the involvement of the private sector in infrastructure works. 

Benefits:
• National regime for private initiatives: to promote the participation of the private sector in public infrastructure 

works, concessions, public utilities or licenses. The submission of these projects should be spontaneous, and if 
the State considers it to be of public interest, the corresponding call for tender will be issued. The particular 
feature of this regime is that the developer of the project is given priority when the bids are being judged 
as part of the tendering process. 

• Regime of public-private associations: this involves the State´s participation as a partner in the project. 
The association structure can be any form permitted under Argentine legislation. The contribution made by 
the government may be made with a cash payment, tax benefits, rights to certain State-owned public and 
private assets, for instance. In this case, the presentation of the project is made at the request of a public 
organization and a public call for tenders is issued to select the private sector partner. 

For further information: www.infoleg.gov.ar 
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6.3. Location incentives

6.3.1. Provincial regimes

Description: Most Argentine provinces offer specific regimes to promote productive investment in their 
territories. 

Benefits: Although the incentives, the terms and the sectors promoted differ across provinces, most provincial 
promotional regimes include: 

• Exemptions from provincial taxes for a specific period of time. 
• Reduction in public utilities rates. 
• Support for infrastructure works and acquisition of equipment. 
• Facilities for the purchase and localization of assets from the province. 
• Priority for award of contracts in bidding procedures carried out by the provincial government authorities.
• Reduction in the rates charged for the probate and deed of sale or transference from the provincial 

government.

In most provinces there are also industry-specific incentive programs which include exemptions from provincial 
taxes. In addition, many provinces have industrial parks which offer companies a complete service infrastructure 
among other advantages. 

For further information: www.inversiones.gov.ar/es/red-federal.html  

6.3.2. Free trade zones (FTZ)

Norms: Law No. 24,331 and amendments.

Benefits: Merchandise entering and leaving the free trade zone is not subject to normal customs controls, nor are 
any taxes levied (except for retributive services taxes). The objective of these zones is to encourage trade and 
the export of industrial activity by reducing costs and simplifying administrative procedures in addition to offering 
fiscal incentives. 

There are currently nine free trade zones operating in Argentina in the following provinces: Buenos Aires (La Plata), 
Córdoba (Córdoba), Chubut (Comodoro Rivadavia), La Pampa (General Pico), Mendoza (Luján de Cuyo), Misiones 
(Puerto Iguazú), Salta (General Güemes), San Luis (Justo Daract) and Tucumán (Cruz Alta).  

Application authority: Secretariat of Industry and Commerce, Ministry of Industry.

For further information: www.comercio.gov.ar / www.afip.gov.ar 

6.4. Incentives for innovation and technological development

6.4.1. Argentine Technology Fund (FONTAR)

Description: It supports projects geared towards improving the productivity of the private sector through 
technological innovation. There are a number of financing instruments which are implemented by means of public 
calls for tenders or open submissions (no deadline). 

Kinds of projects financed by FONTAR:
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• Technological development
• Technological modernization
• Patent costs
• Technological services for institutions 
• Technological services for SMEs
• Training
• Technical assistance
• Technological Departments Program 
• Company incubators, industrial parks and technological centers. 

For further information: www.agencia.mincyt.gov.ar 

6.4.2. Software Industry Fiduciary Fund (FONSOFT)

Description: A fiduciary fund created when the Software Promotion Law (Law No. 25,922) was enacted. 

Projects and programs financed by FONSOFT:
• R&D projects related to the activities included in the promotional regime: creation, design, development, 

production, implementation and fine-tuning of software systems.
• Higher education programs (graduate or post-graduate) for human resources training.
• Programs to improve quality in the processes used in software creation, design, development and 

production. 
• Assistance programs to create new enterprises. 

For further information: www.agencia.mincyt.gov.ar 

6.4.3. Fund for Scientific and Technological Research (FONCYT)

Description: The fund supports research projects aimed at creating new scientific and technological knowledge. 
The fund offers different promotion and financing instruments awarded through public tender procedures.

Projects and programs financed by FONCYT:
• Technological and scientific research projects (Proyectos de investigación científica y tecnológica - PICT)
• Specialized technological and scientific research projects (Proyectos de investigación científica y tecnológica 

orientados - PICTO)
• Research and development projects (Proyectos de investigación y desarrollo - PID)
• Equipment modernization projects (Proyectos de modernización de equipamiento - PME)
• Strategic areas program (Programa de áreas estratégicas - PAE)
• Scientific meetings (Reuniones científicas - RC)
• Qualification certificates (Certificados de calificación - CC)
• Human resources program (Programa de recursos humanos - PRH)
• Projects to adapt and/or upgrade infrastructure (Proyectos de adecuación y/o mejora de infraestructura 

- PRAMIN)
• Training program for managers and technological facilitators (Programa de formación de gerentes y vinculadores 

tecnológicos - GTec )
• Technological equipment and infrastructure project (Infraestructura y Equipamiento Tecnológico - PRIETEC)

More information: www.agencia.mincyt.gov.ar 
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6.4.4. National Science and Technology Council (COFECYT)

Description: The Council promotes the harmonious development of technological, innovative and scientific activities 
throughout the country. 

Projects and programs financed by COFECYT:
• Institutional strengthening projects 
• National Projects for Productive Innovation (Proyectos Federales de Innovación Productiva - PFIP)
• National Projects for Productive Innovation—Productive Chains (Proyectos Federales de Innovación Productiva-

Eslabonamientos Productivos - PFIP-ESPRO).

For further information: www.cofecyt.mincyt.gov.ar 

6.4.5. Promotion and encouragement of technological innovation

Description: The program aims to improve productive and commercial activity by promoting and encouraging 
research and development, the transfer of technology, technical assistance and other innovative enterprises, 
which provide a social support structure for the tasks carried out by scientists, technologists and innovative 
entrepreneurs. 

Benefits: The Executive Power sets an annual quota of fiscal credits which may be offset against the payment 
of national taxes (Income Tax) for an amount of no more than 50% of the total value of the project. This fiscal 
credit must be used in equal parts during a three-year period. 

For further information: www.cofecyt.mincyt.gov.ar 

6.5. Employment incentives

6.5.1. New hiring incentive programs

Program of Tax Regulation, Promotion and Protection of Registered Employment 
(Law No. 26,476)

Benefits: Any company hiring new personnel may benefit from a reduction in employer contributions. For the first 
12 months, the afore-mentioned contributions will be reduced by 50%, and reduced by 25% for an additional 
12 months. 

Labor Insertion Program

Benefits: Any company hiring a person who benefits from the training and employment insurance program (SCyE, 
for its acronym in Spanish) will be able to discount from the employee’s net salary the sum that the employee 
receives from the program. Furthermore, the company ’s social security contributions will be lower as they are 
calculated based on the portion of the salary for which the employer is responsible. 

Deductible amounts:
1. Labor insertion of beneficiaries of the SCyE under 45 years of age

Women: AR$ 400 during the first three months and AR$ 600 during the fourth, fifth and sixth months.
Men: AR$ 400 during the first six months.
Total period: Six months.
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2. Labor insertion of beneficiaries of the SCyE over 45 years of age
Women: AR$ 400 during the first three months and AR$ 600 during the fourth, fifth and sixth months and 
AR$ 800 during the seventh, eighth and ninth months.
Men: AR$ 400 during nine months.
Total period: Nine months.

Young people’s employment program (Programa de Jóvenes “Más y Mejor Trabajo”)

Benefits: Any company hiring a beneficiary from the young people’s employment program (PJMMT, for its acronym 
in Spanish) may deduct from the beneficiary’s net monthly salary a non-remunerative sum of AR$ 400 which will 
be reimbursed to the beneficiary by the Ministry of Labor, Employment and Social Security by means of direct 
payments during a period of up to six months. 

Those companies which offer training internships to beneficiaries of the PJMMT program may co-finance with the 
Ministry of Labor a non-remunerative total sum to be paid to the beneficiaries (if this is an SME, the Ministry 
of Labor will cover up to AR$ 400 of the AR$ 550 established). The Ministry of Labor covers costs incurred in 
classroom training for up to an amount of AR$ 60 per trainer /hour.  

6.5.2. Training programs for employees

Benefits: Any company training an employee who benefits from the Training and Employment Insurance Program 
(SCyE) will be able to discount from the employee’s net salary the sum of AR$ 400 during six months, as the 
employee will be receiving this sum directly from the Ministry of Labor. Furthermore, the Ministry covers a trainer’s 
fee of up to AR$ 150 for four hours per month and AR$ 225 for up to six hours per month throughout the training 
period. 

Fiscal credit for companies strengthening the capabilities of their employees: companies may obtain a fiscal bond 
of up to AR$ 300,000 for training programs that strengthen the capabilities of employed and unemployed workers. 
If the company in question is an SME, it is eligible for an equivalent of 8% in financing (a large company is eligible 
for 0.8%) for the total amount of salaries, wages and remunerations paid on an annual basis, as well as their 
respective employers’ contributions and social security. The company receives fiscal credit certificates which allow 
it to offset taxes whose application, control and collection are the responsibility of the AFIP. 

Lines of action eligible for financing:
• Professional training
• Basic IT training 
• Certification of primary, secondary, tertiary or higher level education programs.
• Evaluation and certification of work skills. 
• On-the-job training (qualifying internships or job training).

Industry-specific training: Any company wishing to design a customized training course may develop industry-
specific agreements to carry out in-house professional training. The Ministry of Labor finances trainers, teaching 
material, equipment and travel costs, for instance. The amounts and duration of these courses are defined between 
the parties involved in the project. 
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6.6. Investment financing

6.6.1. Credit lines from the National Bank of Argentina (BNA)

Description: BNA provides credit lines to companies, which includes credits for working capital and investments 
(to cover production and sales costs), financing for imports and for the tourism sector (including the construction 
of new hotels, facilities and equipment). It also offers leasing and factoring services. 

For further information: www.bna.com.ar 

6.6.2. Bicentennial program for productive financing

Description: A large-scale credit program of AR$ 8 billion that aims to provide all types of companies financing for 
productive investments in all sectors. 

Benefits: Fixed annual interest rate of 9.9% for peso-denominated five-year loans. 

For further information: www.mit.gob.ar/financiamiento_bicentenario.htm

6.6.3. Credit lines from the Investment and Foreign Trade Bank (BICE)

Description: The BICE offers a range of financing lines in both pesos and dollars. 

Benefits:
• Reconversion and productive modernization projects aimed at financing the purchase of capital goods and 

investment projects. 
• Export pre-financing: financing for the export of primary products, manufactured products of agricultural and 

industrial origin and the provision of services in general, aimed at foreign markets. 
• Export post-financing: financing for the export of primary products, manufactured products of agricultural 

and industrial origin, durable and capital goods. 
• SME Boost Program: fixed interest rate credit line in pesos subsidized by the Secretary of Small and Medium-

size Enterprises, aimed at financing micro, small and medium-size companies. 

For further information: www.bice.com.ar 

6.6.4. Credit lines from the Federal Investment Council (CFI)

Description: The CFI runs a series of financial assistance programs for micro, small and medium-size enterprises 
in order to promote Argentine regions and provinces. 

Benefits:
• Productive reactivation: credits are given for the purposes of financing working capital, fixed assets and 

pre-investment. 
• Exportable regional production: credits are for pre-financing exports and supporting exportable production 

(working capital, fixed assets and pre-investment).

For further information: www.cfired.org.ar
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6.6.5. Subsidized rates for loans to Micro, Small and Medium-Size Enterprises 
(MiSMEs)

Description: The national government put this regime into place to facilitate access by MiSMEs to credit and cover 
part of the financial costs of the loans granted by banks. 

Benefits: These credits are aimed at: 
• The acquisition of new capital goods via loans or leasing. 
• Strengthening working capital.
• Pre-financing and financing exports of goods and services. 
• Creation and development of new enterprises. 
• Industrialization of goods and services developed through the use of technological innovation. 
• Scientific and technological research activities, productive modernization and innovation. 

For further information: www.sepyme.gov.ar

6.6.6. National Development Fund for MiSMEs (FONAPyME)

Description: FONAPyME makes capital contributions and provides financing to micro, small and medium-size 
enterprises to carry out projects focusing on the domestic market with an emphasis on import substitution, the 
generation of added value, employment and the promotion of regional development. 

Benefits: Loans are offered to finance:
• Investments in fixed assets
• Working capital

For further information: www.sepyme.gov.ar

6.6.7. National Bank of Argentina Program to finance innovative enterprises

Description: This program supports innovative enterprises with growth potential, including those new enterprises which 
have not yet entered the market but which are planning to do so within the six months following the disbursement of 
the loan as well as young companies that have been operating less than two years since the first sales were reported 
for tax purposes. 

For further information:www.empretec.org.ar

6.7. Export promotion

6.7.1. Drawback regime

Norms: Decrees Nos. 177/1985, 1012/1991 and 2182/1991, 313/2000 and Resolutions Nos. 177/1991, 288/1995 
and 1041/1999.

Benefits: Drawback regime refunds exporters for taxes and import duties, including statistics tax and VAT, paid 
on imported supplies used to produce goods for export. The regime also covers packaging or the conditioning 
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necessary for the goods to be exported. As is the case with refunds, their settlement and payment is overseen 
by the Customs Office. 

Eligibility: Registered importers and exporters.

Application authority: Customs Office.

For further information: www.afip.gov.ar

6.7.2. Export refunds

Norms: Decrees Nos. 1011/1991, 2275/1994 and 690/2002.

Benefits: The total or partial refund of excise taxes paid during the different stages of production and marketing 
of the merchandise manufactured in Argentina which is to be exported, new and unused. These rates currently 
range from 0% to 6%. Payment of this benefit is made by the Customs Office following the presentation of the 
shipping documentation. Furthermore, the exporter must have complied with the rules governing the entry of 
foreign currency related to the operation and must not have any pension or tax debts pending with the AFIP. As 
the benefits are applied to value added locally they are compatible with the drawback regime. 

Eligibility: Exporters of fixed assets.

Application authority: Customs Office. 

For further information: www.afip.gov.ar 

6.7.3. Temporary imports for industrial improvements

Norms: Decree No. 1330/2004 and related norms

Benefits: Regulates the temporary import of merchandise entering the territory with the purpose of receiving 
subsequent industrial improvements to be exported in its new form within the period stipulated. The merchandise 
admitted under this regime is not liable for those taxes levied on goods imported for consumption, although 
retributive services taxes are applicable, except for the Statistics Levy and destination confirmation charges. 
Nonetheless, those operations undertaken within the framework of this regime are covered by the current system 
of guarantees. 

Eligibility: Registered importers and exporters 

Application authority: Secretary of Industry, Commerce and SMEs 

For further information: www.comercio.gov.ar

6.7.4. Export of turnkey operations

Norms: Law No. 23,101, Decree No. 870/2003, Resolution No. 12/2004.

Benefits: The regime grants specific and additional refunds to exports made under the turnkey export contract 
system. Turnkey exports refer to the following: the construction of a plant or building and the provision and 
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installation of its respective furnishings or goods; management and supervision of assembly; provision of 
operational methods and start-up assistance. Also, training personnel to operate it correctly and providing any 
other services necessary for full compliance with the turnkey contract’s final objective. Furthermore, an essential 
component of an export turnkey operation is the export of services which include the following as a minimum: 
the designs, plans and calculations for construction, installation and systems; supporting documentation for 
operational methods, procedures and control; technical assistance for implementation; and/or works supervision 
and site management. 

Eligibility: Companies established in Argentina.

For further information: www.comercio.gov.ar 

6.7.5. In-company customs regime (RAF)

Norms: Decrees Nos. 688/2002, 2722/2002 and Joint Resolutions Nos. 14/2003-1424/2003 and 54/2003–
1448/2003, and Resolution No. 1553/2003.

Benefits: The RAF enables the import of raw materials, supplies, auxiliary materials, packaging, packing or protective 
material or goods used directly in production processes and/or the transformation of goods for their subsequent 
and definitive export or import. The destination suspension contemplated by the regime ends when the merchandise 
is definitively exported after transformation, re-exported without being transformed or imported for consumption. 
The importer must apply for one of these definitive destinations at least one year before the merchandise enters 
the customs zone. Taxes, duties and other customs tariffs applicable to imports for consumption are charged 
by calendar month and may be collected as from the expiry date established for this purpose by the application 
authorities. 

Eligibility: Individuals or legal entities owning industrial establishments based in the country which, having opted to 
abide by Argentine legislation, are able to provide proof of compliance with the requirements for its application. 

Application authorities: AFIP and the Secretary of Industry, Commerce and SMEs. 

For further information: www.afip.gov.ar 

6.7.6. In-house customs regime

Norms: General Resolutions Nos. 596/1999 and 800/2000, and Resolution No. 14/2003.

Benefits: Imported merchandise may be directly taken to the importer’s warehouses or deposits, while merchandise 
for export may leave directly from the exporter’s own warehouse, without interim detention in fiscal enclosures. 
Independently of the location and sector, the regime requires the importer/exporter to account for a minimum 
volume of annual sales as well as provide tax records in order for the importer/exporter to manage their own 
bonded warehouse for their own merchandise as well as acting as a customs clearance agent.  

Application authority: Customs Office.

For further information: www.afip.gov.ar
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6.7.7. Reimbursements for exports from Patagonian seaports

Norms: Laws No. 23,018; 24,490; 25,454; and 25,731

Benefits: There are additional refunds available for exports originating from the ports located between San 
Antonio Este (Province of Río Negro) and Ushuaia (Province of Tierra del Fuego). Law No. 23,018 establishes 
the requirements to be met and includes a chart detailing the progressive reductions in benefits from their initial 
application until they expire. 

Application authority: Federal Administration of Public Revenues.

For further information: www.afip.gov.ar 

6.7.8. Secretary of Small and Medium-Size Enterprises and Regional Development 

Description: The Secretary provides assistance for exports through several different programs to support alliances 
and partnerships between SMEs and encourage their internationalization, for instance: 

• Support Program for exporter groups and consortia 
• Support programs for first-time exporters
• Online portal Proargentina (www.proargentina.gov.ar)
• Technical training and assistance 
• Commercial promotion actions 

For further information: www.sepyme.gov.ar 

6.7.9. Secretary of International Trade and International Economic Relations

Description: The Secretary of International Trade and International Economic Relations, together with the Export.
ar Foundation, offers businesses assistance with their efforts to commercialize their products efficiently and 
competitively internationally with the purpose of accessing markets and broadening and diversifying their export 
offering. The following activities are worth mentioning: 

• Participation in international trade fairs
• Industry-specific promotion missions
• International business round tables
• Product insertion programs
• Developing business meeting agendas
• Support for exporters’ groups 
• Training events

For further information: www.exportar.org.ar

6.7.10. Argentina Trade Net

Description: This is an Internet portal run by the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, International Trade and Worship 
designed to promote and encourage international trading operations between local companies and potential 
clients abroad.

For further information: www.argentinatradenet.gov.ar
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7.1. Quality of life 

The quality of life in Argentina stands out in the region and the world. The specialized publication International 
Living ranked Argentina fourth in its 2010 Quality of Life index, on the basis of factors such as cost of living, 
culture and leisure, the economy, the environment, healthcare services, infrastructure and climate. Argentina offers 
internationally competitive costs in areas including transport, telecommunications, entertainment, gastronomy and 
real estate services, among others.

The City of Buenos Aires, the capital, is rated by The Economist Intelligence Unit as the most livable city in Latin 
America, while the purchasing power of its inhabitants is the highest among Latin American capital cities, according 
to the most recent Prices and Earnings study carried out by the global financial firm UBS. 

Prestigious local institutions offer educational and healthcare services comparable in quality to the top international 
referents. This is the case of the many bilingual schools specializing in English, German, French and Italian, as well 
as medical diagnostic centers and high-end healthcare facilities.

The wide range of cultural activities, sports attractions and the warmth of its people make Argentina a great 
place to live, work or visit. 

7.2. Transport

Argentina is well served with modern forms of transport interconnecting numerous local and international 
destinations. Air transport is one of the favored options for medium to long-distance travel due to the country’s 
sheer expanse.

The principal international airport of Ministro Pistarini is located in the Ezeiza district, 22 km west of the City of 
Buenos Aires. It offers direct flights to the main cities on the South American continent as well as most major world 
capitals.  Most domestic flights fly in and out of Jorge Newbery Airport, located in the City of Buenos Aires.

A network of well-marked national and provincial roads efficiently connects the country’s vast territory. Long-
distance buses are an excellent transport option, offering quality services, including sleeper coaches and on board 
catering similar to an international flight. There are also many national and international car rental agencies.

Railway services are one of the main forms of passenger transport between the City of Buenos Aires and the 
surrounding suburbs in Greater Buenos Aires, as well as between the capital and other cities throughout the 
country. There are also short and medium-distance rail services covering touristic circuits, such as the famous Train 
of the Clouds in the province of Salta, and the Train of the End of the World in Tierra del Fuego. 

Within the city limits of Buenos Aires, the subway and city buses are by far the most popular means of transport, 
however there is a plentiful fleet of metered taxis and private car services, which calculate the rate based on a 
trip’s distance and time. 

 
7.3. Culture

Argentina boasts a vibrant and diverse culture. Tango, considered an Intangible Cultural Heritage of Humanity 
since 2009, has achieved world recognition and today stands out as the country’s chief cultural icon, illustrated 
by the rising tide of music sales, ticket sales for concerts and dance shows, tango classes, sales of shoes and 
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outfits and specialized publications. The World Tango Championship is held annually in Buenos Aires; its variety of 
shows, free classes and exhibitions attract over 200 thousand spectators.

Folk music is also increasingly popular, particularly in the provinces, featuring dances such as the carnavalito, 
malambo, pericón and chacarera, all part of Argentina’s prolific and varied culture. 

Argentina is internationally renowned for its literary wealth as reflected by its special guest status at the Frankfurt 
Book Fair 2010, the most important publishing event of the year. The ranks of legendary authors and poets include 
Jorge Luis Borges, its most famous exponent, as well as Ernesto Sábato, Adolfo Bioy Casares, Juan Gelman and 
Julio Cortázar, now followed by new generations of talented young writers.  

With over 540 publishing houses, the local publishing industry is among the most prolific in the Spanish-speaking 
world. Argentina offers one of the broadest book selections in Latin America, on show every year at the International 
Book Fair in the City of Buenos Aires, the largest book fair in the Spanish-speaking world. Buenos Aires was also 
elected “World Book Capital 2011” by UNESCO.

The filmmaking industry enjoyed a recent growth spurt during the last decade with the emergence of a new 
generation of young directors, who gave birth to the so-called “new Argentine cinema”. The local industry treasures 
its two Oscars for best foreign film, awarded to “El Secreto de sus Ojos” (2010) and “La Historia Oficial” (1986), as 
well as another five nominations to this coveted prize. Argentina ranks second in the region in terms of premieres 
of national films with some 80 new releases per year. 

Undisputed local talent has thrust Argentine artists into the limelight to win several top international awards and 
prizes in different disciplines: the Miguel de Cervantes for literature, the Goya Awards, honorary mentions for film 
at the Berlin, Cannes and Venice film festivals, Latin Grammy and MTV music awards for music and numerous Clio 
and Cannes Lions awards for print and TV advertising. 

© 2009 Haddock Films and others. Photo: María Antolini.
Photo: Undersecretariat for Investment Development 
by Enrico Fantoni. 
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7.4. Entertainment 

The main Argentine cities have a well-deserved international reputation for their varied array of cultural, recreational 
and sports activities and events for all ages. There are 925 art, science and history museums, 2,829 theaters 
and 444 movie theaters, as well as exhibition, convention and trade fair centers; cultural centers and literary 
cafes; stadiums for sporting events and rock concerts; restaurants, bars and discos; as well as a busy schedule 
of musical concerts to suit all tastes.

Argentina is renowned for its theater and performing arts, comparable with only a handful of other countries in the 
world. From the newly renovated Colón Theater to open-air stages, a new generation of dancers offers breathtaking 
performances. On the weekends some 200 theatrical performances are staged, representing eight curtain calls per 
hour. Traditional settings and locations are complemented by underground or fringe-style performances featuring 
avant-garde directors and playwrights, while ground-breaking shows depart from convention altogether with such 
visionary Argentine troupes as De la Guarda and Fuerza Bruta which have triumphed in London and New York. 

For tango lovers there is a vast array of shows and concerts, as well as nights of milonga dancing. Folk dancing 
is also very popular and has gained a new fame in recent years, among audiences of all ages. The folk melodies 
attract huge crowds at festivals which take place every year throughout the country. 

Argentina also hosts cinematographic events, including important film festivals, such as the Mar del Plata Film 
Festival, the only one in Latin America recognized in 2010 by the Federation of International Federation of Film 
Producers Associations (FIAFP). The Buenos Aires International Independent Film Festival (BAFICI, for its acronym 
in Spanish) is another annual hit, attracting avant-garde filmmakers from all around the world. 

Photo: Undersecretariat for Investment Development by Enrico Fantoni.  

Photo: Undersecretariat for Investment Development by Enrico Fantoni.  

Photo: Fuerza Bruta. 
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Photo: Undersecretariat for Investment Development 
by Enrico Fantoni

Photo: Undersecretariat for Investment Development by Enrico Fantoni.  

The Colón Theater. Photo: Ministry of Tourism

Colón Theater

Over one hundred years old, the recently restored Colón Theater continues to be one of the finest opera 
houses in the world as much for its acoustics as for its architecture. Legendary figures have enraptured 
audiences throughout its history, from composers Richard Strauss and Igor Stravinsky to singers Enrico 
Caruso, Plácido Domingo, José Carreras, Luciano Pavarotti and María Callas as well as ballet dancers Anna 
Pavlova and Rudolf Nureyev. The theater has an impressive calendar of regular concerts featuring the Vienna 
and London Philharmonic Orchestras and the Philadelphia, New York and Berlin Symphony Orchestras, among 
many others.

In regard to professional sports, the country is a key force on a number of world circuits, excelling at soccer, polo, 
tennis, rugby, hockey, sailing and rally driving. Soccer is the most popular sport, and Argentine world-league names 
such as Diego Maradona and Lionel Messi have awed fans around the world.  Argentina is the mecca of world 
polo with local tournaments drawing audiences from all over the world. The International Association of Golf Tour 
Operators elected Argentina as the top destination in the region for golf tourism. 

Argentina enjoys a reputation for a lively and varied night life. There are bars, restaurants, discos, thematic bars 
and traditional cafes that cater to all ages and tastes.  
 

Photo: Polo match.  
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7.5. Cuisine

A wide array of restaurants, bars and gourmet food shops represent a diverse and rich offering of local delicacies 
and international cuisine. The range of options is broad and tempting: Spanish restaurants, Italian trattorias, 
French bistros, Japanese sushi bars, Mexican taco bars, and dozens of signature cuisine restaurants featuring 
highly accomplished chefs, as well as delicatessen shops and bakeries. 

Argentine beef, the undisputed must-try of local cuisine, in particular barbecued (asado criollo) is a culinary 
experience to be enjoyed again and again. 

Sweets such as dulce de leche and the mouth-watering chocolate or fruit filled cookies known as alfajores, are 
some of the emblematic Argentine sweets now gaining popularity all over the world. 

Another emblematic taste of Argentina is the local wine, which has grown into a world-class industry of world 
renown. Argentina produces an eclectic and celebrated range of outstanding white, red and rosé wines, such as 
Bonarda, Cabernet Franc, Cabernet Sauvignon, Malbec, Merlot, Tempranillo, Torrontés, Chardonnay, Pinot Noir, 
Petit Verdot, Syrah and Traminer. The Malbec is the country’s signature grape, reaping international awards and 
recognition for the high quality wines produced locally. Another traditional beverage is the mate, a hot infusion 
similar to tea, an icon of the country’s most traditional culture. 

7.6. Tourism

Argentina attracts visitors from every corner of the globe, who come to experience the culture and enjoy the unique 
opportunities for sightseeing. Tourists can enjoy a diverse range of activities from adventure and ecotourism to 
historic and cultural tours, even the increasingly popular option of health tourism.

Photo: Misiones province Undersecretary of Tourism.

Photo: Jujuy s representation in Buenos Aires

Photo: Undersecretariat for Investment Development 
by Enrico Fantoni
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Among its natural treasures are the National Reserves of Ischigualasto and Talampaya, the National Park of Los 
Glaciares, Iguazú National Park and the Valdés Peninsula, all distinguished by UNESCO as World Heritage Sites.

Cultural and business tourists will find plenty to interest them in the country’s main urban centers. The city of Buenos 
Aires was voted one of the top ten best cities to visit in the world by the trade magazine Travel & Leisure for five 
years in a row. 
 

Wine tourism: the Wine Route

Over 160 wineries form part of the “Argentine Wine Routes”, a wine tourism circuit which attracts some 
2,800 visitors per day, a number that has grown by 25% a year since 2004. Wine tourism is currently 
concentrated in the province of Mendoza, but is already spreading into other wine-producing regions which 
have also identified the burgeoning tourism interests. This represents a new kind of integrated experience 
providing visitors with an opportunity to savor local wines and learn their history, while enjoying the stunning 
scenery of wine country extending out from the Andean mountain range. 

Photo: Ministry of Tourism. Photo: Ministry of Tourism. Photo: Ministry of Tourism.

Photo: Mendoza ś  Secretary of Tourism Guided visit to a winery Photo: Ministry of Tourism
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8.1. What is the legal framework that protects foreign investment?
Foreign Investment Law No. 21,382 (Ley de Inversiones Extranjeras No. 21.382) establishes the legal framework 
for foreign investment. 

8.2. Are foreign investors treated differently from national investors?
No. In Argentina, foreign investors are not discriminated against; they enjoy the same treatment as Argentine 
nationals. 

For further information, see Chapter 4, Section 4.1. (Legal framework for FDI) in this guide.

8.3. Is there a foreign investment registry?
No. Although legislation foresees the possibility of drawing up a foreign investment registry in the future, this has 
still not been legally instrumented. 

8.4. What restrictions are there on companies remitting profits abroad?
None. Foreign investors may transfer profits and dividends from their investments to another country as well as 
repatriate their investment. 

For further information, see Chapter 4, Section 4.1. (Legal framework for FDI) in this guide.
 

8.5. Are there any restrictions on specific sectors?
In general, there are no restrictions or preferences on foreign companies investing in specific economic sectors. 

8.6. Does Argentina adhere to the Authorized Economic Operator (AEO) system?
Yes. This system allows foreign trade operators to access major benefits which help them to speed up their 
operations, optimizing costs and helping customs authorities to perform their tasks in the area of safety as 
required by the World Customs Organization (WCO) in the Framework of Standards to Secure and Facilitate Global 
Trade (SAFE).

8.7. What kinds of immigration permits are required to do business in Argentina?
To set up a business in Argentina, a permanent or temporary residency permit is required. 

For further information, see Chapter 3, Section 3.2 (Settling in Argentina) in this guide. 

8.8. What are the principal norms regulating the labor market?
The principal norms regulating the labor market in Argentina are: Law No. 20,744 (Ley de Contrato de Trabajo); 
Law No. 25,877 (Ordenamiento Laboral); Law No. 26,425 (Sistema Integrado Previsional Argentino); Law No. 
24,557 (Riesgos del Trabajo); in addition to collective agreements. All of these laws establish the basic company 
requirements for hiring personnel.

For further information, see Chapter 4, Section 4.3 (Hiring personnel) in this guide.
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8.9. How many hours is a working day?
A working day is eight hours a day or 48 hours a week. This may be extended with overtime, which is paid at a 
rate of an additional 50% on working days, while Saturdays after 1 pm, Sundays and public holidays are paid at a 
rate of an additional 100%. Night work is allowed, but may not exceed seven hours a day between the hours of 9 
pm and 7 am. 

8.10. How many vacation days are workers entitled to per year?
The number of days allotted to each employee for vacation depends on the number of years of service to the company: 
14 days if the employee has been with the company between six months and five years; 21 days for five to ten years 
of employment; 28 days for ten to 20 years and 35 days if the employee worked for the company for more than 20 
years. 

8.11. Is there an extra or additional salary to be paid per year?
Yes. All salaried workers are entitled to a thirteenth month of salary—known as the “aguinaldo” in Spanish—which 
is paid in two installments, one in June and the other in December. Each payment is equal to 50% of the highest 
monthly salary paid during the prior six months. 

8.12. What are the terms of the different work contracts?
Work contract terms are generally non-fixed, unless there are specific provisions to the contrary. The law establishes 
a trial period of three months which may be extended to six months depending on the collective agreement in each 
sector. During this period, the employee may be dismissed without receiving severance payment. 

The work contract is understood to be for a non-fixed term, unless its term is conditioned by the following 
circumstances: a fixed period expressly set and taken down in writing, or when the particular aspects of the tasks 
or activity involved justify a specific term. 

A fixed-term work contract lasts until the period agreed to expires, and may not be longer than five years.

8.13. What are the regulations governing redundancy?
For any one party to terminate a work contract before it expires, the other party must receive official notice. The 
written notice must be issued by the employee to the employer 15 days in advance. The employer must give an 
employee a 15-day notice if the worker is under the trial period; one-month notice when the worker has been 
employed for up to five years and two months when this period is longer. 

Severance pay is equivalent to one month’s salary per year worked or the fraction greater than three months, 
based on the highest regular monthly salary. 

If the employer fires the employee because the latter has committed a work-related offense of sufficient gravity 
hindering the relationship from continuing, the latter is not entitled to receive severance payment provided for 
by labor legislation. 

8.14. How is the tax system structured?
In Argentina, tax revenue is collected by the Argentine government, the provinces and municipal authorities. The 
tax system is structured on the basis of dues levied on income, assets and consumption.

For further information, see Chapter 4, Section 4.2 (Tax system) in this guide.
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8.15. What are the main taxes according to different levels of government? 

The main taxes according to levels of government are as follows: 

Federal taxes Levy

Income tax 35%

Value Added Tax (VAT) 21%

Minimum Presumed Income Tax 1%

Personal Assets Tax 0.5% - 1.25%

Taxes on Debits and Credits in Bank Accounts and Other 
Operations

0.06%

Provincial taxes

Gross Income Tax 3%*

Real Estate Tax 0.562%

Stamp Tax 1%

Municipal taxes

Remuneration rates for services Set by each municipality

 
For further information, see Chapter 4, Section 4.2 (Tax system) in this guide.

8.16. Are there any promotional and/or incentive programs in place to encourage 
investment? 
Yes. Argentina offers a series of instruments designed to encourage investment, including horizontal, sector-based 
and regional incentives, among many others.

For further information, see Chapter 6 (Investment incentives) in this guide.

8.17. Are there any industry-specific incentives in place?
Yes. Those sectors benefiting from specific incentive programs are: automotive and auto parts, software, 
biotechnology, biofuels, motorcycles and motorcycle parts, mining, tourism, forestry, public infrastructure works 
and hydrocarbons exploration and exploitation. 

For further information, see Chapter 6, Section 6.2 (Industry-specific incentives) in this guide.

8.18. Are investment incentives provided at a provincial level?
Yes, most Argentine provinces have specific programs in place to promote productive investment in their 
territories. 

Provincial promotion programs include provincial tax exemptions for specific periods of time; reduced tariffs for 
public utilities; support for building public infrastructure and acquiring equipment; facilities for purchasing and 
localizing State-owned goods; priority in the award of provincial tenders; and reductions in the tax thresholds 
corresponding to formal records of the bills of sale or transfer from the provincial state authorities. 
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8.19. What options are available for structuring a company in Argentina?
The Law of Commercial Companies No. 19,550 (Ley de Sociedades Comerciales) establishes the different kinds of 
companies that can be constituted in Argentina. The most popular corporate forms among foreign investors in 
Argentina are the incorporated business company (SA, for its acronym in Spanish) and the limited liability company 
(LCC). Nonetheless, the law typifies another option which is the foreign branch. 

For further information, see Chapter 3, Section 3.1 (How to establish your company) in this guide.
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Office of the President  
(+54-11) 4344-3600
www.presidencia.gov.ar

– National System of Public Media 
	 www.snmp.gov.ar

– Secretary of Culture
	 (+54-11) 4129-2400
	 www.cultura.gov.ar 

– National Institute of Cinema 
and Audiovisual Arts (INCAA)

	 (+54-11) 6779 0900
	 www.incaa.gov.ar 

– CAF (Argentine Film 
Commission) 

	 (+54-11) 4381-3091
	 www.caf.gov.ar

Chief of Cabinet Office 
(+54-11) 4331–1951 to 59
www.jgm.gov.ar

Ministry of Science, 
Technology and Productive 
Innovation (MINCyT) 
(+54-11) 4891-8300
www.mincyt.gov.ar

–	National Agency for Scientific 
and Technological Promotion  

	 (+54-11) 4891-8300
	 www.agencia.gov.ar

–	FONTAR – Argentine 
Technology Fund 

	 (+54-11) 4891-8700/03
	 fontar@mincyt.gov.ar 

–	FONCYT – Fund for Scientific 
and Technological Research

	 (+54-11) 4891-8750/55
	 foncyt@mincyt.gov.ar 
	

– FONSOFT – Software Industry 
Fiduciary Fund

	 (+54-11) 4313-3808/5076
	 fonsoft@mincyt.gov.ar

Ministry of Defence 
(+54-11) 4346-8800
www.mindef.gov.ar

Ministry of Social 
Development 
(+54-11) 4379-3658 or  
4379-3892
www.desarrollosocial.gov.ar

Ministry of Economy and 
Public Finance 
(+54-11) 4349-5000
www.mecon.gob.ar

–	National Institute of Statistics 
and Censuses (INDEC)

	 (+54-11) 4349-9609
	 www.indec.gov.ar

–	Federal Administration of Public 
Revenues (AFIP)

	 (+54) 810-999-2347 
	 www.afip.gov.ar 

–	Customs Office (DGA)
	 www.afip.gov.ar/

aduanaDefault.asp

Central Bank of the Argentine 
Republic (BCRA) 
(+54-11) 4348-3500
www.bcra.gov.ar

National Bank of Argentina 
(+54-11) 4347-6000
www.bna.com.ar

Investment and Foreign Trade 
Bank (BICE)
(+54-11) 4313-9508
www.bice.com.ar

Ministry of Education  
(+54-11) 4129-1000
www.me.gov.ar

–	National Institute for 
Technological Education

	 www.inet.edu.ar

Ministry of Domestic Affairs 
(+54-11) 4339-0800
www.mininterior.gov.ar

–	National Inmigrations Office
	 (+54-11) 4317-0234
	 www.migraciones.gov.ar 

–	Federal Investment Council 
(CFI)

	 www.cfired.org.ar

Ministry of Justice, Security 
and Human Rights  
(+54-11) 5300-4000
www.jus.gov.ar

Ministry of Agriculture, 
Livestock and Fisheries
(+54-11) 4349 2000
www.minagri.gob.ar

–	Argentine Food
	 (+54-11) 4349 2000
	 www.alimentosargentinos.gov.ar 

–	PROARGEX (Argentine Agrifood 
Promotion of Exports Project)

	 (+54-11) 4349-4680
	 www.proargex.gov.ar 

–	INTA (National Institute for 
Agricultural Technology) 

	 (+54-11) 4381-5200
	 www.inta.gov.ar

–	SENASA (National Service for 
Agri-food Health and Quality)

 	 (+54-11) 4121-5000
	 www.senasa.gov.ar

9.1. National entities  
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–	National Institute of 

Vitiviniculture (INV) 
	 (+54-261) 521-6600
	 www.inv.gov.ar

Ministry of Federal Planning, 
Public Investment and 
Services 
(+54-11) 4349-5000
www.minplan.gov.ar

–	Secretary of Energy 
 	 (+54-11) 4349-5000
 	 www.energia.gov.ar 

–	Secretary of Mining
 	 (+54) 810-666-6463
 	 www.mineria.gov.ar 

–	Secretary of Transport
 	 (+54-11) 4349-7254 
 	 www.transporte.gov.ar 

–	Secretary of Communications 
	 (+54-11) 4318-9407
	 www.secom.gov.ar
 
Ministry of Industry 
(+54-11) 4349-5861
www.mit.gob.ar

–	INTI (National Institute of 
Industrial Technology)

	 (+54) 800-444-4004
	 www.inti.gov.ar

–	Production Studies Center 
(CEP)

	 (+54-11) 4349-3442
	 www.cep.gov.ar

–	Secretary of Small and 
Medium-Sized Enterprises and 
Regional Development

	 (+54) 800-333-7963
	 www.sepyme.gob.ar

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 
International Trade and 
Worship 
(+54-11) 4819-7000
www.mrecic.gov.ar

–	Secretariat of International 
Trade and International 
Economic Relations

	 (+54-11) 4819-7227

–	Undersecretariat for 
Investment Development 

	 (+54-11) 4328-9510
	 infosuinv@mrecic.gov.ar
	 www.inversiones.gov.ar

–	Argentina Trade Net
	 www.argentinatradenet.gov.ar

–	Export.ar Foundation
	 (+54-11) 4114-7700
	 www.exportar.org.ar

Ministry of Health
(+54-11) 4379-9000
www.msal.gov.ar

Ministry of Labor, 
Employment and Social 
Security 
(+54) 800-666-4100
www.trabajo.gob.ar

–	National Social Security 
Administration  (ANSES)

	 www.anses.gov.ar

Ministry of Tourism 
(+54–11) 4312–5611/15
www.turismo.gov.ar
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9.2. Provincial entities

Buenos Aires
Undersecretary of International 
Economic Relations 
Ministry of Production 
(+54-11)4342-9040 / 0980
inversiones@mp.gba.gov.ar
www.mp.gba.gov.ar/srei
			 
Catamarca
Undersecretary of Investment 
Promotion 
Ministry of Production and 
Development 
(+54-3833) 437-588 / 424343
asesoria@produccioncatamarca.
gov.ar 
www.produccioncatamarca.gov.
ar

Chaco
Agency of Investment, Foreign 
Trade, International Relations 
and Provincial Promotion and 
Representation (AICER)
(+54-3722) 448-087 / 440-887
aicer@chaco.gov.ar 

Chubut
Undersecretary of Investment 
Promotion  
Ministry of Foreign Trade, Tourism 
and Investment 
(+54-2965) 482-603 to 607 
www.chubutalmundo.gov.ar

City of Buenos Aires
Investor Assistance Center (CAI)
(+54-11) 4131-5900 - Ext. 
1602/04
invertir@buenosaires.gob.ar 
www.invertir.buenosaires.gov.ar

Córdoba
Secretary of Industry  
(+54-351) 434-2475 / 81
www.cba.gov.ar
 

Corrientes 
Institute of Business 
Development (IFE)
(+54-3783) 476-044 / 474-051
info@ife.gov.ar 
www.ife.gov.ar

Entre Ríos
Secretary of Production
(+54- 343) 420-8433 / 8168
secretariaproduccion@entrerios.
gov.ar 
www.entrerios.gov.ar/
produccion/

Formosa
Business Development Agency 
- ADE Formosa
(+54-3717) 421-448 / 436138 
/ 9
info@adeformosa.org.ar 
www.adeformosa.org.ar

Jujuy
 Industrial and Commercial 
Development Office
Ministry of Production 
(+54-388) 426-4014
direcciondeindustriajujuy@
argentina.com.ar 
www.mpyma.jujuy.gov.ar

La Pampa
Undersecretary of Industry, Trade 
and SMEs  
(+54-2954) 421-811 / 452-600 
www.lapampa.gov.ar/
subsecretaria-de-ind-comercio-y-
pymes

La Rioja
Secretary of Industry and 
Investment Promotion  
Ministry of Production 
(+54-3822) 453-650
mdegaetano@larioja.gov.ar 
www.larioja.gov.ar

Coordination of Domestic 
and Foreign Trade - Provincial 
representation in Buenos Aires
(+54-11) 4813-3417 / 19
comextcasadelarioja@larioja.gov.
ar 

Mendoza
ProMendoza Foundation
(+54- 261) 405-4700
inversiones@promendoza.com 
www.promendoza.com

Misiones
Undersecretary of Industry, 
Economics, Geology & Mining 
Ministry of Agriculture and 
Production  
(+54- 3752) 447-536
www.agro.misiones.gov.ar

Neuquén
Investment Development Agency  
(ADI NQN)
(+54-299) 449-5147 / 49 / 76
info@adinqn.gov.ar 
www.adinqn.gov.ar

Council for Planning and 
Developing Action – COPADE
(+54-299) 442-4676 / 448-1559
invertir@neuquen.gov.ar 
www3.neuquen.gov.ar/copade

Río Negro
Provincial Agency CREAR
(+54-2920) 428-306 / 43-0925 / 
43-1964 
merezuma@crear.rionegro.gov.ar 
www.crear.rionegro.gov.ar

Salta
ProSalta Foundation
(+54-387) 437-0596/97
prosalta@prosalta.org.ar 
www.prosalta.org.ar
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San Juan
San Juan Investment 
Development Agency 
(+54-264) 427-2566 / 4391 / 
4191
info@inversionessanjuan.gov.ar 
www.inversionessanjuan.gov.ar

San Luis
 Investment Development 
Subprogram
Ministry of Transport, Industry & 
Trade  
(+54-2652) 451-460
pymes@sanluis.gov.ar 

Santa Cruz
Investment Development Agency  
– PROGRESAR
Ministry of Production 
(+54-2966) 438-727
rafael.gilmartin@gmail.com 

Santa Fe
Secretary of Development 
Support Services 
(+54-342) 450-5300 ext. 4100
oaudagna@santafe.gov.ar 
www.santafe.gov.ar/index.php/
web/content/view/full/57179
 
Santiago del Estero
Ministry of Production, Natural 
Resources, Forestry and Land Use
(+54-385) 450-5069 / 79
mprodsde@mproduccion.gov.ar 
www.mproduccion.gov.ar/portal/

Industry and Trade Office
(+54- 385) 422-4650
indycomsde@mproduccion.gov.ar 

Tierra del Fuego
Secretary of Economic and Tax 
Promotion 
Ministry of the Economy  
(+54 – 2901) 423-440
coordinacionprogramastdf@
gmail.com 
 
Tucumán
Production Development  
Institute (IDEP)
(+54-381) 497-5155 / 497-5050
idep@idep.gov.ar 
www.idep.gov.ar
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Information Sources

Chapter 1

World Bank (2010)
World Development Indicators
Available at: http://data.worldbank.
org/indicator/all

Central Intelligence Agency 
(2010)
The World Factbook 2010
Available at: https://www.cia.gov/
library/publications/the-world-
factbook/geos/ar.html

Federal Highway Administration 
(2010)
Routes and Highways
http://www.vialidad.gov.ar

English for Speakers of Other 
Languages (ESOL)
University of Cambridge (2009)
Grade Statistics
Available at: www.cambridgeesol.
org/what-we-do/research/grade-
stats.html 

Military Geographic Institute
Ministry of Defense (2010)
Geographical data
Available at: www.ign.gob.ar

National Institute of Statistics 
and Censuses (2005)
Provincial population forecasts by 
gender and age group 2001–2015, 
Demographic Analysis Series Nº 31
Available at: www.indec.gov.ar/
nuevaweb/cuadros/2/proyecciones_
provinciales_vol31.pdf

National Institute of Statistics 
and Censuses (2010)
Permanent Household Survey (EPH), 
second quarter 2010
Available at: www.indec.gov.
ar/nuevaweb/cuadros/4/
EPHcont_2trim10.pdf
 

National Institute of Statistics 
and Censuses (2008)
Population estimates by geographical 
areas and calendar year. 2001-2010, 
Demographic Analysis Series Nº34, 
Available at: www.indec.mecon.
gov.ar/nuevaweb/cuadros/2/
estimaciones-serie34.pdf

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 
International Trade and Worship 
(2010)
General data about worship and 
religion in Argentina
Available at: www.mrecic.gov.ar/

United Nations Educational, 
Scientific and Cultural 
Organization (2010)
Global Education Digest 2010 - 
Comparing education statistics 
across the world
Available at: www.uis.unesco.org/
template/pdf/ged/2010/GED_2010_
EN.pdf

United Nations Development 
Programme (2009)
Human Development Index
Available at: http://hdr.undp.org/en/
statistics

Secretary of Energy, Ministry 
of Federal Planning, Public 
Investment and Services (2010)
Data on energy
Available at: http://energia3.mecon.
gov.ar/home

World Heritage Centre, UNESCO 
(2010)
World Heritage list
Available at: http://whc.unesco.org/
en/list 

Chapter 2

Argentine Association of 
Regional Consortiums for 
Agricultural Experimentation 
(2009)
Data and statistics
Available at: www.redcrea.org.ar/
aacrea/site/PortalInstitucional-
internet/index.html

Association of Argentine Public 
and Private Banks (2010) 
Statistics
Available at: www.abappra.com

The Central Bank of the 
Argentine Republic (2010)
Statistics and indicators
Available at: www.bcra.gov.ar

The Central Bank of the 
Argentine Republic (2010)
(R.E.M.), Survey of Market 
Expectations
Available at: www.bcra.gov.ar

World Bank (2010)
Global Economic Prospects 2010
Available at: www.worldbank.org

World Bank (2010)
World Trade Indicators 2009/10
Available at: www.worldbank.org

United Nations Conference on 
Trade and Development (2010)
Trends in foreign direct investment
Available at: www.unctad.org

Department of National 
Accounts, National Institute of 
Statistics and Censuses (2010)
Data and statistics
Available at: www.mecon.gov.ar/
secpro/dir_cn/default1.htm
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Format Recognition and 
Protection Association (2009)
FRAPA Report
Available at: www.frapa.org

International Monetary Fund 
(2010)
Data and statistics
Available at: www.imf.org/external/
index.htm

National Institute of Statistics 
and Censuses (2010)
Largest Enterprises Survey (ENGE)
Available at: www.indec.gov.ar

National Institute of Statistics 
and Censuses (2010)
Permanent Household Survey (EPH)
Available at: www.indec.gov.ar

National Institute of Statistics 
and Censuses (2010)
Foreign sector
Available at: www.indec.gov.ar

Ministry of Agriculture, Livestock 
and Fisheries (2010)
Progress indicators from the 
agricultural sector
available at: http://www.minagri.gob.
ar/site/index.php

Ministry of Economy and Public 
Finance (2010)
Quarterly Economic Reports
Available at: http://noticias.mecon.
gob.ar

Ministry of Economy and Public 
Finance (2010)
Up-to-date economic information
Available at: noticias.mecon.gob.ar

Employment and Business 
Dynamics Observatory, Ministry 
of Labor, Employment  and Social 
Security (2010)
Annual Report on Employment and 
Enterprises
Available at: www.trabajo.gov.ar/
left/estadisticas/oede/index.asp

United Nations Food and 
Agriculture Organization (2010)
Statistics
Available at: www.fao.org

Organization for Economic Co-
operation and Development 
– United Nations Food and 
Agriculture Organization (2009) 
Agricultural Outlook 2009-2018, 
available at:
 http://www.agri-outlook.org/
dataoecd/2/31/43040036.pdf

Prosperar – Vale Columbia Center 
on Sustainable International 
Investment (2009)
First Ranking of Argentine 
Multinationals
Available at: www.vcc.columbia.edu/
content/emerging-market-global-
players-project-0

Secretary of Mining (2009)
Mining Data and Statistics
Available at: www.mineria.gov.ar/
pdf/mineriaennumeros.pdf

The Gunn Report (2009)
Available at: www.gunnreport.com

Tholons (2009), Top 50 Emerging 
Global Outsourcing Cities, available 
at: http://www.tholons.com/Top50_
article.pdf

Chapter 5

Argentine Chamber of Exporters 
(2010)
General Information
Available at: www.cera.org.ar/new-
site/index.php

Argentine Chamber of Importers 
(2010)
General Information
Available at: http://www.cira.org.ar

Association of Importers and 
Exporters of Argentina
General Information
Available on: www.aiera.org

Argentine Customs Agents 
Center (2010)
General information
Available on: www.cda-argentina.
org.ar

Customs Office, Federal 
Administration of Public 
Revenues (2010)
General information
Available on: www.afip.gob.ar/
aduanaDefault.asp

External Trade Management 
Office, Federal Administration of 
Public Revenues (2010)
General information
Available at: www.comercio.gov.ar

Federal Administration of Public 
Revenues, Customs Operational 
Orientation for SMSE exporters, 
Available at: www.afip.gob.ar

Tarifar (2010)
External Trade Practical Guide
Available at: www.guiapractica.com.
ar/gp/s?section=index
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World Trade Organization (WTO) 
(2010)
World Tariff Profiles
Available at: www.wto.org/english/
res_e/reser_e/tariff_profiles_e.htm

Chapter 7

The Argentine Wine Corporation 
(2010)
Our Vines
Available at: www.vitivinicultura2020.
com.ar

National Institute of 
Vitiviniculture (2010)
Statistics
Available at: www.inv.gov.ar

International Association of Golf 
Tour Operators (2008)
IAGTO Awards 2008
Available at: http://www.iagto.com/
public/awards/Awards-2008.aspx

International Federation of Film 
Producers Associations (2010)
2010 Agenda of FIAPF Accredited* 
Festivals
Available at: http://www.fiapf.org/
intfilmfestivals_sites.asp

International Living (2010)
2010 Quality of Life Index
Available at: www1.internationalliving.
com/qofl2010

The Argentine Cultural 
Information System (2010)
Cultural Map
Available at: http://sinca.cultura.gov.
ar/sic/mapacultural/index.php

The Colón Theater (2010)
History of the Theater
Available at: www.teatrocolon.org.
ar/index.php?id=historia2

The Economist (2009)
Liveability Ranking
Available at: www.iut.nu/
Facts%20and%20figures/
LiveableCities2009.pdf

Travel & Leisure (2010)
2010 World’s Best Cities
Available at: www.travelandleisure.
com/worldsbest/2010/cities/top-10-
cities/6

UBS (2009)
Prices and Earnings Report
Available at: www.ubs.com/1/
ShowMedia/wealthmanagement/
wealth_management_research/prices_
earnings?contentId=170298&name=Pr
eiseLoehne_2009_e.pdf

World Heritage Centre
UNESCO (2010)
List of World Heritage sites
available at: whc.unesco.org/en/list 
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